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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

(RMB Million)
Year ended 

31 December 2018
Year ended  

31 December 2017

Revenue 5,281 3,465
Gross profit 248 280
Gross profit margin (%) 4.7% 8.1%
Profit attributable to owners of the parent 82 116
Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) 3.95 5.75

FINANCIAL POSITION

(RMB Million)
31 December 

2018
31 December 

2017

Property, plant and equipment 603 463
Cash and cash equivalents 277 508
Total assets 3,813 2,459
Total liabilities 3,133 1,846
Net assets 680 613

OPERATION INDICATORS

Year ended 
31 December 2018

Year ended 
31 December 2017

Inventory turnover (days) 29 33
Trade receivables turnover (days) 88 80
Trade payables turnover (days) 121 138
Current ratio 1.03 1.10

Note:  The above turnover days are calculated on average balance of the beginning and end of the year.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
 

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of China Display Optoelectronics Technology Holdings Limited, I hereby present to you the annual report of the Group 
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

2018 was a year of reform, transformation and progress for the Group. Since Shenzhen CSOT became the controlling shareholder 
of the Company in April 2017, the Group has been cooperating with CSOT to further develop the semiconductor display business, 
and proactively harnessing synergies under the business model of panel and module integration by leveraging CSOT’s stable panel 
supply and leading panel production technology, which proved highly effective in acquiring new first-tier brand customers. In 2018, 
the Group and CSOT achieved encouraging results in jointly establishing partnerships with top-tier mobile phone brand customers, 
including Samsung, Huawei, Xiaomi, OPPO and vivo.

Despite the weak sales performance in the downstream mobile phone market, the Group benefitted from the surge in orders 
from new brand customers. In the second half of 2018, the Group’s sales volume rebounded from a dip. For the year ended 
31 December 2018, the Group’s sales volume increased by 13.1% year-on-year to 60.4 million units leading to a revenue of 
RMB5.28 billion, up by 52.4% year-on-year. Capitalising on the sizeable synergistic advantage with CSOT that helped to win new 
customers, the Group experienced a turnaround in the second half of the year. The profit attributable to owners of the parent was 
RMB81.8 million.

In 2018, the Group continued to initiate upgrades, strengthen its research and development capabilities and improve its plant 
equipment and production capacity, so as to maintain the Group’s industry leading position in product quality. With CSOT’s 6th 
generation LTPS LCD display panel production line reaching full production and sales capacities in the fourth quarter of 2018, the 
plant of Wuhan CDOT, a subsidiary of the Group jointly established with Wuhan CSOT, also operated at full production capacity in 
late 2018, manufacturing a wide range of new full-screen products. Concurrently, the Group boldly explored other development 
opportunities to prepare for future trends in technology and products. Following the launch of a partnership with Baidu in March 
2018 to introduce its first smart speaker with interactive touch display module, which marked the Group’s first foray into the smart 
home market, the Group anticipates further penetration into the smart home market by adding new dedicated production lines for 
medium sized display modules.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
 

Looking ahead, the global economic outlook in 2019 will be very 
uncertain due to the impact of trade conflicts and geopolitical 
tensions. The semiconductor and smartphone industries are in a 
downturn, creating uncertainties for our industry. Nevertheless, we 
will continue to put forth our best effort to meet any difficulty head-
on and with pragmatism. We will also explore opportunities amidst 
challenges and seek breakthroughs by riding on these opportunities. 
With our outstanding ability and responsiveness to market changes, 
we will further enhance our collaborations with first-tier brand 
customers through leveraging CSOT’s technology and resources to 
lay a solid foundation for future development.

In terms of research and development capabilities, the Group will 
keep up the sustained allocation of resources to foldable AMOLED 
display module and in-display fingerprint technologies. In addition, 
we will explore and identify “blue ocean markets” such as in the 
automotive display and smart home industries, in order to elevate 
our standard in every aspect, and reinforce and increase our 
competitiveness to enable healthy business growth across the board.

Lastly, I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere 
gratitude to all shareholders, business associates and staff members 
for their dedicated support. The Group will strive to promote the 
sustainable development of its business and maximise shareholders’ 
returns.

LIAO Qian
Chairman
Hong Kong, 19 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
 

Headquarters of the Group in Huizhou

INDUSTRY REVIEW

For the twelve months ended 31 December 2018 (the “Review Period”), changes in trade policies and heightened geopolitical 
tensions led to subdued global economic growth and lacklustre demand for smartphones in developed countries and Mainland 
China. According to the report published by global market researcher IDC, global smartphone shipments recorded a total of 
1.4 billion units in 2018, a year-on-year decline of 4.1%. As the world’s largest smartphone market, Mainland China recorded a 
particularly notable drop due to its consumers’ increasing emphasis on products’ price-performance ratio and the rise of rational 
consumption. According to the data issued by the China Academy of Information and Communications Technology, 390 million 
units of smartphones were shipped in Mainland China in 2018, marking a year-on-year decline of 15.5%. At the same time, 
according to IDC, smartphone shipments from the top 4 manufacturers (Huawei, OPPO, vivo, Xiaomi) accounted for 78% of 
the overall domestic market, up from 66% in 2017, which signified a rise in sectoral concentration in the domestic smartphone 
industry and the intensification of the competition in the downstream smartphone market.

During the Review Period, full-screen products with Low Temperature Poly-silicon (“LTPS”) or Active-Matrix Organic Light-Emitting 
Diode (“AMOLED”) panel continued to be the leading products in the market. As the domestic supply of foldable AMOLED 
progressively increased, first-tier homegrown smartphone brands started to apply foldable AMOLED panel in their flagship products. 
According to the data issued by IHS Markit, a market researcher, 160 million units of foldable AMOLED panel were shipped in 
2018, more than triple the amount of 46.5 million units in 2015, representing a compound annual growth rate of approximately 
50%. However, the demand for foldable AMOLED panel is still at an initial stage owing to its higher cost, and higher requirement 
for quality and stability.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
 

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Review Period, the Group recorded a revenue of RMB5.28 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 52.4%, of 
which the revenue of laminated LCD module products registered a rise by 101.6% year-on-year to RMB4.38 billion. Revenue of 
non-laminated LCD module products was RMB900 million, marking a decrease of 30.3% year-on-year. The increase in the Group’s 
revenue was due to the following reasons: (i) the Group’s annual sales volume was up by 13.1% year-on-year to 60.4 million units 
as driven by the orders placed by new first-tier brand customers in the second half of 2018; (ii) the Group continuously optimised 
its product mix and increased the proportion of high-end products, so that the portion of laminated products rose from 40.5% 
for same period last year to 68.9% in terms of sales volume, with the overall average selling price up by 34.7% year-on-year to 
RMB87.5.

Despite the full recovery made by the Group in its sales volume and gross profit margin in the second half of 2018, the weak sales 
performance in the first half of 2018 resulted in a decrease in the Group’s gross profit margin by 3.4 percentage points year-on-
year to 4.7%. Gross profit was RMB248 million, representing a decrease of 11.3% year-on-year. Due to the significant year-on-year 
decrease in net profits in the first half of 2018, the Group’s profit attributable to owners of the parent dropped by 29.3% year-on-
year to RMB81.8 million, with basic earnings per share of RMB3.95 cents, decreasing by 31.3% year-on-year.

Sales volume by product segment and their respective year-on-year comparisons:

For the year ended 31 December
2018 2017 Change

’000 units % ’000 units % %

TFT LCD module
Non-laminated modules 18,788 31.1 31,767 59.5 –40.9
Laminated modules 41,596 68.9 21,606 40.5 +92.5  

Total 60,384 100.0 53,373 100.0 +13.1 

Revenue by product segment and their respective year-on-year comparisons:

For the year ended 31 December
2018 2017 Change

RMB’000 % RMB’000 % %

TFT LCD module
Non-laminated modules 900,028 17.0 1,291,789 37.3 –30.3
Laminated modules 4,380,833 83.0 2,172,784 62.7 +101.6  

Total 5,280,861 100.0 3,464,573 100.0 +52.4



8 CHINA DISPLAY OPTOELECTRONICS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2018

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
 

Revenue by geographical segment and their respective year-on-year comparisons:

For the year ended 31 December
2018 2017 Change

RMB’000 % RMB’000 % %

Hong Kong 737,309 14.0 988,624 28.5 –25.4
China 4,179,043 79.1 2,178,586 62.9 +91.8
South Korea 357,524 6.8 284,553 8.2 +25.6
Others 6,985 0.1 12,810 0.4 –45.5  

Total 5,280,861 100.0 3,464,573 100.0 +52.4

During the Review Period, China remained the major market for the Group. Benefited from the orders from new brand customers, 
revenue derived from China was RMB4.18 billion, increased by 91.8% year-on-year and accounted for 79.1% of the Group’s total 
revenue. Due to change of customer base, revenue derived from Hong Kong was RMB737 million, decreased 25.4% year-on-
year. South Korea was the third largest market for the Group as fueled by the sales to LG, a renowned South Korean consumer 
electronics company. Revenue derived from South Korea was RMB358 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 25.6%.

Parent Company’s Increase in Shareholding Created Closer Relationship with CSOT

From October to November 2018, TCL Corporation (“TCL Corporation”, together with its subsidiaries, “TCL Group”), the controlling 
shareholder of the Company, increased its shareholding in the Company through the acquisition of approximately 260 million 
ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”) (representing approximately 12.46% of the then total number of issued shares of 
the Company) (“Increase in Shareholding”) by High Value Ventures Limited on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”). High Value Ventures Limited is an indirect subsidiary of Shenzhen China Star Optoelectronics Technology Co., 
Ltd* (“Shenzhen CSOT”, 深圳市華星光電技術有限公司 , together with its subsidiaries, “CSOT”), which is ultimately owned by TCL 
Corporation. Approximately 250 million shares were acquired on 1 November 2018 at HK$0.85 per share, representing a premium 
of approximately 21.4% over the closing price of HK$0.70 per Share on 31 October 2018. Following the Increase in Shareholding, 
TCL Corporation’s stake reached approximately 65.05% of the total issued number of shares of the Company. The Increase in 
Shareholding was a testament indicating TCL Corporation’s confidence in the Company’s prospects and was expected to enhance 
the synergistic benefits brought by the vertically integrated supply chain jointly established by the Group and CSOT.

Sustained Efforts to Improve the Synergies with CSOT

1. Optimised Product Mix to Strengthen Core Competitiveness

During the Review Period, the Group actively devoted its efforts to the research and development of new products and new 
technologies to increase the sales proportion of mid-to high-end products and strengthen its core competitiveness. To keep 
abreast of the market trend, the Group has cooperated with CSOT to develop and launch a variety of high-end full-screen 
notch-cutting module products. During the Review Period, the Group’s full-screen products accounted for approximately 64% 
of the overall sales volume and the proportion of the sales volume of LTPS products increased from 29% for the same period 
last year to 64%.

* for identification only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
 

2. Breaking into the Direct Supply Chain of First-tier Brand Customers

The Group has been striving to deepen its cooperation with CSOT so as to win first-tier brand customers through the one-
stop business model that combines panel and module from each party. After winning a new brand customer Xiaomi in 2017, 
the Group, during the Review Period, has built partnerships with a number of first-tier brand customers, including Samsung, 
Huawei, vivo and OPPO, thus establishing a solid customer base. Given that the market share in the global smartphone 
industry has become increasingly concentrated, the Group will continue to strengthen its synergy with CSOT by leveraging 
its progressively sophisticated panel production techniques so as to deepen partnerships with numerous first-tier brand 
customers, and propel the long-term and stable development of the Group.

The Groups’ new production lines for medium sized modules

Broadened the Production Capacity of Medium Sized Display Modules to Explore the Smart Home and Commercial 
Display Market

According to the report published by global market intelligence firm IDC, the global shipment of smart home devices is anticipated 
to increase from 644 million units in 2018 to 1.3 billion units in 2022, with the interactive touch display screens expected 
to become one of the major components of smart home products. During the Review Period, the Group keenly grasped the 
opportunities brought by the development of smart home market and Internet of Things. In March 2018, the Group launched a 
partnership with Baidu to introduce its first smart speaker with interactive touch display module, which marked the Group’s first 
foray into the smart home market. In addition, the Group expanded the production capacity of 8 to 17-inch medium sized display 
modules for smart home products and devices by adding new dedicated production lines, so as to further explore the smart home 
market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
 

Upgraded Production Line Automation to Achieve Sustainable Development

In order to fully optimise production line efficiency and enhance management innovation and decision-making capabilities, the 
Group purchased software and equipment from Foxconn Technology Group and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Foxconn Group”) 
to gradually set up a smart factory by leveraging the technical skills of the Foxconn Group. The first phase of this project was 
formally launched in May 2018 in Huizhou and the renovation of production line is expected to be completed by the end of 2019. 
Through the cooperation with the Foxconn Group, the Group will build on its existing production line to enhance its equipment data 
collection and analysis capabilities, and develop big data applications to gradually increase the interconnectivity between labour and 
machines. It is anticipated that this project will help the Group to further enhance transparency in production lines management, 
improve product quality, and effectively reduce costs to achieve sustainable business development.

OUTLOOK

In 2019, the impact of trade conflicts and geopolitical tensions continues and global economy still faces long-term risks. The report 
published by market researcher TrendForce showed that the year-on-year decline in global smartphone shipments may reach 5% 
in 2019 as a result of persistently weak demand. Despite market uncertainties, the Group will continue to be committed, through 
deepening the cooperation with CSOT, to responding to customers’ needs proactively and offering customised products to first-tier 
brand customers in order to strengthen our customer base. At the same time, the Group, with its business acumen, will strengthen 
its research and development by joining hands with CSOT, and consistently enhance the capabilities in the LTPS and AMOLED 
display technology. The Group expects the sales of high-end products will rise further, laying a solid foundation for future business 
development.

Foldable smartphones will be the key product in the next generation of smartphone development as the market for smartphones 
has reached saturation. WitsView (an optoelectronics research arm under TrendForce) anticipated the official launch of foldable 
smartphones in 2019, and the ongoing evolution of foldable AMOLED panels. As the 6th generation production lines of foldable 
LTPS-AMOLED of CSOT is scheduled to commence production in the first half of 2019, the Group will ride on the growth 
momentum of foldable AMOLED display panel with Wuhan China Star Optoelectronics Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Wuhan CSOT”, 武漢
華星光電技術有限公司)  and tap into the development potential of foldable smartphones to become a forerunner in technological 
innovation.

In addition, with the official launch of the international 5G standard in 2018, a number of manufacturers have announced to unveil 
their first 5G smartphones in 2019, creating favourable conditions for the industry. The Group will actively explore the Internet 
of Things ecosystem to develop a variety of display products horizontally. The Group will continue to increase its presence in 
the automotive display and smart home markets, dedicating resources for research and development to capture the immense 
opportunities in those markets. In the long run, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about the development prospects of the 
display module business and believes in its ability to maintain a balance between sales and healthy development in the midst of 
challenges, so as to create greater value for the Group and its shareholders.

* for identification only
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group maintained robust liquidity position during the Review Period. The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash 
and cash equivalents and interest-bearing bank loans.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents balance as at 31 December 2018 amounted to RMB277 million, of which 51.4% was in 
US dollar, 47.6% was in RMB and 1.0% was in HK dollar.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s interest-bearing bank loans were RMB361 million, which are denominated in RMB and US 
dollar with variable interest rate, and are all repayable within one year. The Group’s other borrowings were RMB24 million, which 
are denominated in RMB with a fixed interest rate, and are repayable in 2020.

As at 31 December 2018, total equity attributable to owners of the parent was RMB545 million (31 December 2017: RMB498 
million), and the gearing ratio was 11.7% (31 December 2017: 19.2%). The gearing ratio is calculated based on the Group’s total 
interest-bearing loans (including bank borrowings, other borrowings and bonds payable) divided by total assets.

Pledge of Assets

During the year, the Group pledged trade receivables of RMB48,040,000 (2017: RMB279,273,000) to banks with recourse in 
exchange for cash.

Capital Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted, but not provided for:
Plant and equipment 80,179 119,473

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities (31 December 2017: Nil).

Pending Litigation

The Group had not been involved in any material litigation for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s business and operations is facing the international market, thus it is inevitable for the Group to be exposed to the risk 
of foreign exchange transactions and conversion.

The Group is committed to striking a balance among trades, assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies 
to achieve a natural hedging effect. The Group also used forward currency contracts to reduce the foreign currency exposures. 
In addition, pursuant to prudent financial management, the Group has not conducted or engaged in any high-risk derivative 
transactions.
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Significant Investments Held

There were no significant investment held as at 31 December 2018.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

The Group did not undertake any other significant acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or assets during the Review Period.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 4,032 employees. During the Review Period, the total staff costs amounted to 
RMB292 million. The Group has reviewed the remuneration policy by reference to the existing legislations, market conditions, as 
well as the performances of employees and the Company. In order to align the interests of staff with those of shareholders, share 
options and restricted shares would be granted to relevant grantees, including employees of the Group, under the Company’s 
Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme respectively. Share options carrying rights to subscribe for a total of 65,180,430 
Shares remained outstanding as at 31 December 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND COMPLIANCE

The Group is devoted to achieve environmental sustainability and incorporates its philosophy of corporate social responsibility into 
daily operations. The Group operates its in-house manufacturing facilities in compliance with all applicable local environmental 
regulations.

The Group encourages to protect the environment. To promote environmental awareness among employees, new staff shall attend 
induction training on energy saving. During the Review Period, the Group improved its management efficiency and implemented 
various energy saving measures, which effectively reduced the use of resources and further created a safe and healthy workplace 
and living environment for its staff.

The Group continuously implements fine-tuned strategy to shoulder its corporate environmental, social and ethical responsibility 
and improve corporate governance, in an effort to create greater value for all of the Group’s stakeholders including shareholders, 
customers and employees as well as the communities where it operates.

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 prepared in accordance 
with Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules will be published separately pursuant to the requirements under Appendix 27 to the Listing 
Rules.

CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises maintaining good and stable relationship with customers and business partners is key for the sustainable 
development of the Group. Therefore, the Group keeps good partnership with its major customers. During the year, the Group’s 
largest customer and the top five customers contributed approximately 44% and 77% (for the year ended 31 December 2017: 
26% and 70%) to the revenue of the Group, respectively. Those customers have been cooperating with the Group for 2-7 
years. The Group’s largest supplier and the top five suppliers accounted for approximately 17% and 41% (for the year ended 31 
December 2017: 11% and 43%) of the purchases of the Group, respectively. Those suppliers have been cooperating with the 
Group for 3-8 years.
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Major customers

The Group’s major customers are all from consumer mobile device industry, which is characterised by its cycles of integration 
and emergence of new brands. Any loss of or changes in market position of any of these customers may materially and adversely 
affect the business, financial conditional and operating results of the Group. In light of this, the Group adopts the following 
strategies to reduce the risk from reliance on one single customer. On one hand, the Group strengthens the relationship with its 
existing customers. One of the major customers is a subsidiary of TCL Corporation, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the 
Company, and has established solid partnership with the Group over the years. The other major customers also make relatively 
stable contribution to the revenue of the Group. On the other hand, the Group endeavours to expand business and acquire new 
customers by improving product mix and integrating industry chain. Given the synergies generated with CSOT, the Group has been 
producing modules for major brand customers, including Samsung, Huawei, Xiaomi, OPPO and vivo, since the second half of 2018.

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for certain customers, where payment in advance is 
normally required. The credit period is generally 30 to 90 days, depending on the size and credibility of the customers. Each 
customer has a credit limit. The Group also maintains credit insurance for trade receivables from customers.

Suppliers

There are numerous suppliers providing materials required for the Group’s production and other businesses operations. However, 
the Group can only rely on a limited number of suppliers for certain materials which are exclusively manufactured by certain 
suppliers. Failure of suppliers to timely deliver adequate production materials may disrupt the Group’s production process, and 
hence adversely affect to the business and financial performance of the Group. The Group therefore adopts multiple sourcing 
policy and strategic inventory management to ensure sufficient supply of materials for production. In addition, one of the major 
suppliers, Wuhan CSOT, is the Group’s fellow subsidiary, which helps to stabilise the upstream panel supply of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
 

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LIAO Qian

aged 38, was appointed as a non-executive director and the chairman of the Company, and also the chairman of the nomination 
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company on 1 January 2017. Mr. Liao is currently the executive 
director, the vice president and the secretary of the board of directors of TCL Corporation, and also the deputy director of 
investment management committee of TCL Corporation. Mr. Liao Qian possesses a master degree qualification and he also holds a 
Chinese legal professional qualification certificate. Mr. Liao obtained the degree of bachelor of economics from Fuzhou University in 
2002. He further obtained the master degree of laws from Yunnan University in 2006. During August 2006 to February 2014, Mr. 
Liao had worked for Guotai Junan Securities Co. Ltd. as the senior manager and general manager of financial advisory department 
and Guotai Junan Securities Co. Ltd. (Shenzhen headquarter) as the director of corporate accounts in relation to the capital 
market of investment banking business in between Hong Kong and the PRC. He joined TCL Corporation as the officer of the board 
of directors in March 2014, and appointed as the secretary of the board of directors in April 2014, a member of the executive 
committee in December 2014. Mr. Liao was subsequently appointed as a director of TCL Financial Holding (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.*
（TCL金融控股（深圳）有限公司）in September 2015, a director of TCL Smart Home Technologies Co., Limited in November 2015, 
a director of Huizhou Kuyou Network and Technology Co. Ltd.*（惠州酷友網絡科技有限公司）in March 2016, a director of Speedex 
Logistics Co. Ltd.* (速必達希傑物流有限公司 , a joint venture of TCL Corporation) in July 2016, a director of Hawk Internet Co. 
Ltd.* (豪客互聯有限公司 , a subsidiary of TCL Corporation) and TCL Culture and Media (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd* (TCL文化傳媒（深圳）
有限公司 , a subsidiary of TCL Corporation) in August 2016 and an independent director of Shenzhen Jiawei Photovoltaic Lighting 
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 300317.SZ)) in November 2016, the chairman and non-executive director of Tonly Electronics Holdings 
Limited (a subsidiary of TCL Corporation, stock code: 1249.HK) in January 2017, a non-executive director of Fantasia Holdings 
Group Co., Limited (stock code: 1777.HK) in March 2017, the chairman of Highly Information Industry Co. Ltd (a subsidiary of TCL 
Corporation) in October 2018.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. OUYANG Hongping

aged 42, was appointed as an executive director in June 2015, was re-designated from the position of chief operating officer  
to the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), and was appointed as a member of the remuneration committee and a member of the 
nomination committee of the Company on 7 March 2019. Mr. Ouyang is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He 
joined the TCL Group in 2004. From August 2004 to December 2008, he was the chief engineer of CDOT Huizhou, responsible 
for supervising engineering related matters, including production planning and management. Since January 2009, he has also been 
the deputy general manager of CDOT Huizhou, responsible for supervising engineering related matters, including research and 
development, procurement, production planning and management. Mr. Ouyang graduated from the University of Nanchang in July 
1999 with a Bachelor’s degree in industrial automation.

Mr. WEN Xianzhen

aged 46, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 23 March 2018 and the finance director of the Company 
and CDOT Huizhou in November 2017. Mr. Wen joined TCL Group in 2004 and has over 20 years of experience in the field of 
accounting and finance. Mr. Wen held the position of finance manager of Huizhou Shenghua Industrial Co. Ltd.*（惠州市昇華工
業有限公司 , a subsidiary of TCL Corporation) from September 2004 to February 2008. Mr. Wen was appointed as the finance 
director of Huizhou TCL King High Frequency Electronics Co. Ltd.*（惠州TCL王牌高頻電子有限公司）from March 2008 to June 
2010. From July 2010 to April 2012, Mr. Wen held the positions of deputy general manager and finance director of TCL Air-
Conditioner (Zhongshan) Co., Ltd.*（TCL空調器（中山）有限公司）and was responsible for finance management and analysis. 
From April 2012 to October 2017, Mr. Wen held the positions of deputy general manager and finance director of Huizhou TCL 
Environmental Resource Co., Ltd.*（惠州TCL環保資源有限公司）, then he was appointed as the finance director, deputy general 
manager and general manager of Huizhou TCL Environment Technology Co., Ltd.*（惠州TCL環境科技有限公司）. Mr. Wen 
graduated with a Bachelor of Accounting from Central South Institute of Technology*（中南工學院）(now merged into Nanhua 
University*（南華大學）) in June 1997 and currently is a certified public accountant of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and a Hong Kong certified financial planner.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
 

* for identification only



CHINA DISPLAY OPTOELECTRONICS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITEDAnnual Report 2018 15

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
 

Mr. ZHAO Jun

aged 46, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 7 March 2019. Mr. Zhao joined TCL Group in 2018 and has 
been a director and the general manager of Wuhan CSOT since April 2018 and May 2018 respectively, the vice president and 
the senior vice president of Shenzhen CSOT since September 2018 and January 2019 respectively, and the vice president of 
TCL Corporation. Mr.Zhao graduated from Northwestern Polytechnical University with a bachelor degree and a Master’s degree in 
chemical engineering, specializing in polymer materials. From April 1997 to January 2018, Mr. Zhao Jun held various positions in 
Tianma Microelectronics Co., Ltd. (which shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000050.SZ, “Tianma”), 
including assistant vice president from August 2013 to June 2016 and vice president of Tianma from July 2016 to January 2018. 
During his tenure with Tianma, Mr. Zhao was responsible for sales and sales management, quality control and procurement.

Mr. LI Jian (resigned on 7 March 2019)

aged 48, was appointed as an executive director and CEO of the Company in June 2015, and has resigned as an executive director, 
the chief executive officer, a member of the remuneration committee and a member of the nomination committee of the Company 
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company on 7 March 2019. Mr. Li joined TCL Group in 1996. He held positions of 
marketing manager, business manager and deputy general manager of Xi’an TCL Appliances Sales Company Limited*（西安TCL電
器銷售公司）from March 1996 to December 2001. From January 2002 to July 2005, Mr. Li was northwest district general manager 
and assistant to general manager of TCL White Household Appliances Division*（TCL白家電事業部）, responsible for sales and 
sales management. From July 2005 to December 2005, Mr. Li also served as operation and sales manager of projector division 
of TCL Group Parts Business Unit Headquarter*（TCL集團部品事業部本部）, responsible for sales and sales management. From 
January 2006 to March 2008, Mr. Li was northwest district director of TCL CRTVU-online business division*（TCL電大在線事業
部）, responsible for sales and sales management. From April 2008 to September 2010, Mr. Li served as deputy general manager 
of CDOT Huizhou, responsible for matters of operation and sales. Mr. Li has rich experience in sales, branch office and district 
management. Mr. Li obtained a Bachelor’s degree in human resources management (online education) in Nankai University in July 
2009. He completed an international business administration and creative leadership management training course at Yangtze Delta 
Region Institute of Tsinghua University, Zhejiang in March 2011 and obtained a Master’s degree in business administration from 
Ursuline College in January 2013.

Mr. ZHAO Yong (resigned on 7 March 2019)

aged 48, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 10 March 2016 and has resigned on 7 March 2019. Mr. 
Zhao is currently the senior vice president of Shenzhen CSOT and the vice chairman, the legal representative and general manager 
of Wuhan China Star Optoelectronics Semiconductor Display Technology Co., Ltd.*（武漢華星光電半導體顯示技術有限公司）
responsible for the overall operational management. Mr. Zhao joined the TCL Group in 2004. From June 2004 to October 2010, he 
was a general manager of CDOT Huizhou, responsible for the overall operational management. From October 2010 to September 
2011, he had served as a general manager of TCL Optoelectronics Technology (Huizhou) Co., Ltd.*（TCL光電科技（惠州）有限公
司）, responsible for the overall operational management. From September 2011 to January 2019, he was vice president and chief 
operating officer consecutively of Shenzhen CSOT. From May 2014 to September 2017, He was a director, the legal representative 
and a general manager of Wuhan CSOT, responsible for the overall operational management. Mr. Zhao obtained an EMBA degree 
from the China Europe International Business School (CEIBS) in September 2011.

* for identification only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. HSU Wai Man, Helen

aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-executive director and the chairlady of the audit committee of the Company, 
and also a member of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Company in June 2015. Ms. Hsu has 
over 20 years’ experience in accounting. Ms. Hsu graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s degree 
in business administration. Ms. Hsu had worked with Ernst & Young for 18 years and was a partner before she retired from the 
firm in February 2011. Ms. Hsu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of 
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Hsu is currently an independent non-executive director of the following 
companies whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange: Perfect Shape (PRC) Holdings Limited (stock code: 1830.HK) and 
Richly Field China Development Limited (stock code: 313.HK). Besides, Ms. Hsu is also an independent non-executive director of 
Circle International Holdings Limited (stock code: CCH) whose shares are listed on the National Stock Exchange of Australia (NSX).

Mr. LI Yang

aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-executive director and a member of the audit committee, the remuneration 
committee and the nomination committee of the Company in June 2015. Mr. Li obtained PRC lawyer qualification in 1998 and 
was admitted as a practicing lawyer in 2002, and has served as professor and doctoral tutor of the School of Law, Sun Yat-sen 
University since January 2016. Mr. Li graduated from the Zhongnan Institution of Political Science and Law*（中南政法學院）
(now known as Zhongnan University of Economics and Law) in 1990 with a Bachelor’s degree in law. He received his Master’s 
degree and Doctorate degree in law from the Peking University Law School in 1996 and 2003 respectively and finished the 
post-doctoral research fellowship in Wuhan University in 2006. Mr. Li has rich experiences in intellectual property law (including 
patent, trademark, copyright, anti-unfair competition and antitrust), intellectual property management and intellectual property 
personnel training. Mr. Li is currently an arbitrator of the South China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission 
and the deputy secretary-general and an executive council member*（常務理事）of China Intellectual Property Law Association, 
an executive council member*（常務理事）of China Law Association on Science and Technology and a part time researcher of the 
Intellectual Property Judicial Protection Research Center of the Supreme People’s Court*（最高人民法院知識產權司法保護研究中
心）.

Mr. XU Yan

aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive director and the chairman of the remuneration committee of the 
Company, and also a member of the audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company in June 2015. Mr. Xu has 
been associate dean of the School of Business of the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology for the courses of EMBA 
for Chinese Executives, Executive Programs and China Strategy since 2011, as well as associate professor of the Department of 
Information Systems, Business Statistics and Operations Management of the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology since 
2004. Mr. Xu has rich experiences in management of technology innovation as well as research in telecommunication regulations 
and policies. He is currently a member of the Communications Authority of Hong Kong and a member of the board of directors 
of the International Telecommunications Society. Mr. Xu graduated from Beijing Institute of Posts and Telecommunications*（北京
郵電學院）, now known as Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications, in July 1984 with a Bachelor’s degree in telecom 
engineering. He obtained a Master’s degree in telecom management from Beijing University of Posts and Telecom in April 1987 
and a Doctor of Philosophy degree in research in telecommunications policy in the Department of Human Resource Management 
from Strathclyde University, the United Kingdom, in July 1997.

* for identification only
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. HU Yudong

aged 43, is the human resources director of the Company. Mr. Hu joined TCL Group in 1998 and has more than 16 years 
experience in human resource management. From July 1998 to June 2010, he served as the regional sales manager, deputy 
director of human resource department, director of human resource department and other management roles successively at TCL 
International Electronics (Huizhou) Co., Ltd. From July 2010 to August 2012, he served as vice general manager of Guangzhou Zhi 
Zhiyuan Oil Industry Co., Ltd.*（廣州植之元油脂實業有限公司）, responsible for the Company’s human resource and administrative 
work. From September 2012 to February 2019, he served as director of the human resources department of Shenzhen CSOT. Since 
March 2019, Mr. Hu was appointed as the human resource director of CDOT Huizhou. Mr. Hu graduated from Nankai University in 
June 1998 and obtained his bachelor’s degree in economics; and graduated from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 
May 2010 and obtained his master’s degree in business administration.

Ms. SUN Xiuping

aged 43, is the deputy general manager of the Company, responsible for sales business. Ms. Sun joined TCL Group in July 2018. 
She has served as sales director of Wuhan CSOT and Wuhan China Star Semiconductor Technology Co., Ltd.*（武漢華星半導體
技術有限公司）since July 2018, responsible for the marketing and sales business of Wuhan CSOT’s LTPS and AMOLED products. 
Since March 2019, Ms. Sun was appointed as the deputy general manager of CDOT Huizhou. In 2001, she served as the planner 
of the strategic planning department, Dalian Tianjian Information Technology Co., Ltd.*（大連天健信息技術有限公司）. From 
March 2002 to September 2015, she held the roles in market planning and memory sales at Shanghai Samsung Semiconductor, 
Shenzhen branch. From September 2015 to June 2018, she served as the marketing director and general manager of Shanghai 
Sharp Electronic Components Co., Ltd.*（上海夏普電子元器件有限公司）, responsible for LCD screen sales in China region. Ms. 
Sun graduated from Dalian University of Foreign Languages in July 2000 and obtained a bachelor’s degree in bilingual Korean and 
Japanese majors.

Mr. WANG Xinfu

aged 45, is the vice general manager of the delivery centre of the Company. He joined the TCL Group in 2004. Since March 2004, 
he has held the positions of engineer and the head of facility section in CDOT Huizhou, in charge of the engineering and facility 
section. Since August 2008, he has served as the head of production department of CDOT Huizhou. Since 2015, he assumed 
the role of manufacturing director, responsible for the engineering management of manufacturing and production engineering 
management of CDOT Huizhou. Since December 2016, he has been the vice general manager of the delivery centre of CDOT 
Huizhou, responsible for the operation and management of the delivery centre. In 2016, he received the Award of Outstanding 
Leader of HZZK Hi-tech Industrial Development Zone*（惠州仲愷高新技術開發區凱旋人才領軍人物獎）. Mr. Wang graduated from 
Changchun University of Technology in July 1999, with a Bachelor’s degree in engineering.

Mr. ZHANG Hongjun

aged 43, is the marketing director of the Company. He graduated from Inner Mongolia Agriculture and Animal Husbandry College
（內蒙古農牧學院）(currently known as Inner Mongolia Agricultural University（內蒙古農業大學）) with his bachelor’s degree in 
1996. He has more than 20 years’ experience in sales. Mr. Zhang worked as business director at Pudong company of Shanghai 
Volkswagen Motor Sales Co., Ltd.（上海大眾汽車銷售有限公司）in 1996. He joined TCL Group in 1998 and successively 
held several positions of Inner Mongolia TCL Electrical Appliance Sales Co., Ltd.（內蒙古TCL電器銷售有限公司）, i.e. business 
manager, general manager of branch AV business center, assistant to the general manager of the branch, manager of Hohhot 
business department. He served as manager of Hengshui business department and manager of Baoding business department of 
Shijiazhuang TCL Electrical Appliance Sales Co., Ltd.（石家莊TCL電器銷售有限公司）in 2000 and 2003 respectively, and served 
as general manager of Harbin TCL Electrical Appliance Sales Co., Ltd.（哈爾濱TCL電器銷售有限公司）in 2004. Mr. Zhang served 
as general manager of Inner Mongolia Hongsheng Agriculture and Animal Husbandry Co. Ltd.（內蒙古宏晟農牧業有限公司）from 
2007 to 2010, and marketing director of CDOT Huizhou from 2010 to 2017. Since 2017, he has been the marketing director of the 
Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. CHEUNG Bo Man

aged 30, was appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company in April 2017. She is a practising lawyer in Hong Kong and a 
partner of Messrs. Cheung Tong & Rosa Solicitors, Hong Kong. Ms. Cheung graduated from the University of Hong Kong with the 
Bachelor of Business Administration (Law) and Bachelor of Laws in 2009 and 2011 respectively and obtained a Postgraduate 
Certificate in Laws from the University of Hong Kong in 2012.

* for identification only
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INTRODUCTION

The Board aims to achieve a high standard of corporate governance and business ethics in pursuing its mission of becoming the 
leader in the LCD module industry. The Group’s ultimate goal is to maximise values for its shareholders and customers, and to 
provide opportunities for employees.

The Company has adopted a corporate governance code prepared based on the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of 
the latest revised code on corporate governance (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) from time to time as the guidelines for corporate governance of the 
Company, and has taken steps to comply with the CG Code wherever appropriate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has complied with the Code Provisions of the CG Code as set out in 
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except for the following deviations:

Under Code Provision F.1.1, the company secretary should be an employee of the issuer and have day-to-day 
knowledge of the issuer’s affairs.

The company secretary of the Company, Ms. CHEUNG Bo Man is a partner of the Company’s legal advisor, Cheung Tong & Rosa 
Solicitors (“CTR”).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has assigned Ms. Clara SIU, the Vice Director of Finance and Investor 
Relations Department of the Company and Mr. PENG Bo, the Legal Manager of the Company as the contact persons with Ms. 
Cheung to ensure that information in relation to the performance, financial position and other major developments of the Group 
are speedily delivered to Ms. Cheung through the contact persons assigned, to enable the company secretary to get hold of the 
Group’s development promptly without material delay. With CTR’s respective expertise and experience, the Company is confident 
that having Ms. Cheung as its company secretary is beneficial to the Group’s compliance with the relevant board procedures, 
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors is aware of any information which would reasonably indicate that the Company had 
not, throughout the year ended 31 December 2018, fully complied with the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code.

COMPLIANCE WITH DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Company has received the respective confirmations signed by (i) TCL Corporation, (ii) T.C.L. Industries Holdings (H.K.) Limited, 
and (iii) Taibang Investment Limited, Ketai Investment Limited, Litai Investment Limited, Taigang Investment Limited, Liyuan 
Holdings Limited, Gaosheng Holdings Limited, Zhuoxian Investment Limited, Jinyuan Investment Limited, Taihua Investment Limited 
and Shengmao Holdings Limited (with TCL Corporation and T.C.L. Industries Holdings (H.K.) Limited, collectively the “Covenantors”) 
on 27 February 2019 (collectively, the “Confirmations”) confirming that for the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date 
of signing the Confirmations by the relevant Covenantor, save for holding direct or indirect interest in the Company and Wuhan 
CDOT (which is owned as to 70% by CDOT Huizhou and 30% by Wuhan CSOT), each of the Covenantors has fully complied with 
the deed of non-competitions respectively executed by the Covenantors in favour of the Group on 17 April 2015 (the “Deed of 
Non-Competition”) and, in particular, each of them and their respective close associates have not, directly or indirectly, carried on 
or engaged or interested in the research and development, manufacturing, sales and distribution of LCD modules for use in mobile 
phones, which is from time to time carried on or engaged or interested in by the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company (the “Independent Non-Executive Director(s)”) have reviewed the 
Confirmations and all of them are satisfied that the Deed of Non-Competition have been complied with during the year ended 31 
December 2018.

DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board, led by the chairman, steers the Company’s business direction. It is responsible for formulating the Company’s long-
term strategies, setting business development goals, assessing results of management policies, monitoring the management’s 
performance and ensuring effective implementation of risk management measures on a regular basis.

The Directors meet regularly to review the Group’s financial and operational performance and to discuss and formulate future 
development plans. Regular Board meetings are attended by a majority of the directors in person or through other electronic 
means of communication.

Board Composition

There are currently 7 Directors as at the date of this report, all with professional backgrounds and/or extensive expertise for the 
direction and oversight of the Group’s strategic priorities. The Board during the year ended 31 December 2018 and as at the date 
of this report comprises the following Directors:

Non-Executive Director

Mr. LIAO Qian (Chairman)

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Jian (resigned on 7 March 2019)
Mr. OUYANG Hongping (re-designated as CEO on 7 March 2019)
Mr. WEN Xianzhen (appointed on 23 March 2018)
Ms. YANG Yunfang (resigned on 23 March 2018)
Mr. ZHAO Jun (appointed on 7 March 2019)
Mr. ZHAO Yong (resigned on 7 March 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen
Mr. LI Yang
Mr. XU Yan

An updated list of the Company’s Directors by category identifying their role and function is at all times available on the websites 
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The list specifies whether the Director is an independent non-executive director and 
expresses the respective roles and functions of each Director.

The Company identifies the Independent Non-Executive Directors in all corporate communications which disclose the names of 
Directors.
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Details of the biographies of the Directors are given under the section “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report on 
pages 14 to 17.

There are no relationships (including financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships) among members of the 
Board.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors play an important role on the Board. Accounting for more than one-third of the Board 
members, they are experienced professionals in their respective fields. They are responsible for ensuring that the Board maintains 
high standards of financial and other mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate checks and balances for safeguarding the 
interest of shareholders of the Company and the Group as a whole. In the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board at all times 
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors with at 
least one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications on accounting or related financial management expertise. The 
number of Independent Non-Executive Directors has at all material times represented at least one-third of the Board.

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend during the year ended 31 December 2018

During the year of 2018, the Board held 4 regular meetings and 6 additional meetings. The Company held 2 general meetings 
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Attendance of individual Directors at the Board meetings and general meetings in 2018 is as follows:

Regular 
Board Meetings

Additional 
Board Meetings 

concerning 
Special Matters 

requiring 
the Board’s 

Decisions
General 

Meetings

Non-Executive Director
Mr. LIAO Qian (Chairman) 4/4 5/6 1/2

Executive Directors
Mr. LI Jian (resigned on 7 March 2019) 4/4 4/6 1/2
Mr. OUYANG Hongping (re-designated as CEO  

on 7 March 2019) 4/4 6/6 2/2
Mr. WEN Xianzhen (appointed on 23 March 2018) 4/4 6/6 2/2
Ms. YANG Yunfang (resigned on 23 March 2018) 0/0 0/0 0/0
Mr. ZHAO Yong (resigned on 7 March 2019) 3/4 2/6 0/2

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen 4/4 6/6 2/2
Mr. LI Yang 4/4 6/6 2/2
Mr. XU Yan 4/4 5/6 2/2
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Notice of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before the meeting while reasonable notice is 
generally given for other Board meetings.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all Directors in a timely 
manner, and at least 3 days before the intended date of each Board or Board committee meeting, except agreed otherwise among 
the Board members, to ensure that they had sufficient time to review the board papers, be adequately prepared for the meeting, 
to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the Group and to enable them to include 
additional matter in the agenda and to make informed decisions.

The Board and each Director, upon reasonable request, have access to independent professional advice to assist them in 
performing their duties to the Company, at the Company’s expense. When needed and upon making request to the Board, 
Directors may obtain independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in carrying out their duties.

Minutes of all Board meetings and meetings of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are 
kept by the company secretary. All of the above minutes record the discussions and decisions reached as well as the matters 
considered by the relevant members in sufficient details, including any concern raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. 
Any director may inspect the minutes at any reasonable time on reasonable notice.

Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors or members of the relevant committee for comment within a reasonable time 
after each meeting and the final version of the minutes is sent to all relevant Directors or committee members for their record.

According to the current Board practice, any transaction, which involves a conflict of interests between a substantial shareholder or 
a Director on the one part and the Company on the other part, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened 
Board meeting with the presence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors who have no material interest in the said transaction. 
The relevant Directors shall abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which 
such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

The Company has maintained appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors and officers arising out of 
corporate activities.

Chairman and CEO

The Company fully supported the division of responsibility between the Chairman of the Board and the CEO to ensure a balance of 
power and authority. The position of the Chairman was held by Mr. LIAO Qian during the year ended 31 December 2018 while the 
position of the CEO was held by Mr. LI Jian (since 25 June 2015 up to 7 March 2019), and Mr. OUYANG Hongping (since 7 March 
2019).

This ensures a clear distinction between the Chairman’s duty to manage the Board and the CEO’s duty to oversee the overall 
internal operation of the Company.

Appointments, re-election and removal of members of the Board

Under bye-law 84 of the bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-Laws”), at each Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), one-third of the 
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation and every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at 
least once every 3 years while those retiring directors shall be eligible for re-election. Any Director who has not been subject to 
retirement by rotation in the 3 years preceding the AGM shall retire by rotation at such AGM.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has received a written confirmation from each Independent Non– 
Executive Director of his/her independence (including their immediate family members) to the Company. The Company has 
assessed the independence and considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent based on the 
independence criteria in accordance with the requirements in the Listing Rules, their non-involvement in the daily operation 
and management of the Group and the absence of any relationship which will interfere with the exercise of their independent 
judgement.

The Company confirms that the year of service of all the Independent Non-Executive Directors is less than 9 years.

Non-Executive Directors

Under the Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive Directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

Each of the non-executive Directors namely Mr. LIAO Qian and the three Independent Non-Executive Directors namely Ms. HSU 
Wai Man Helen, Mr. XU Yan and Mr. LI Yang, has been appointed for a specific term of 3 years subject to re-election in accordance 
with Code Provision A.4.1.

Nomination of Directors

On 25 June 2015, the Board has established the Nomination Committee to provide a framework and set the standards for the 
appointment of Directors of high calibre and with the capacity and ability to lead the Company towards achieving sustainable 
development. It considers matters regarding the nomination and/or appointment or re-appointment of Director(s).

Details of the Nomination Committee are set out in the sub-section headed “Nomination Committee” below.

Responsibilities of Directors

If any new Director is appointed, the officers of the Company, with assistance from the Company’s external legal advisor as to 
Hong Kong law, will work closely with the newly appointed Director(s) both immediately before and after his/her appointment 
to acquaint the newly appointed Director(s) with the duties and responsibilities as a Director of the Company and the business 
operation of the Company.

A package compiled and reviewed by the Company’s legal advisor as to Hong Kong law setting out such duties and responsibilities 
of a director under the Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and other related law and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong 
Kong is provided to each newly appointed Director. The officers of the Company would also provide each newly appointed Director 
with a package which includes information relating to the operations and business of the Group. The Directors are updated 
with the latest developments in laws, rules and regulations relating to the duties and responsibilities of directors from time to 
time. Guidelines for directors issued by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong have been forwarded to each Director for his/her 
information and easy reference.

The Board views that the non-executive Directors are well-aware of their functions and have been actively performing their roles 
including but not limited to exercising their independent judgement at Board meetings, taking the lead where potential conflicts of 
interest arise, scrutinizing the Company’s performance and providing constructive and informed advice on the business strategy, 
policy, performance and management of the Company. They regularly review the financial information, monitor the operational 
performance of the Company and serve on the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
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The Directors have disclosed to the Company at the time of their appointment, and in a timely manner for any change, the number 
and nature of offices they held in public companies or organisations and other significant commitments and appointments. They 
have also informed the Company of the identity of other public companies or organisations they serve and the time involved in 
these public companies or organisations.

All Directors have devoted their time and attention to the affairs of the Company with their hands-on knowledge and expertise in 
the areas and operation in which he/she is charged with. The contribution made by the Directors to the affairs of the Company is 
measured in terms of time as well as quality of the attention and the ability of the Directors with reference to his/her necessary 
knowledge and expertise. The satisfactory attendance of Board meetings, general meetings and Board committee meetings 
indicates the constant participation of all Directors, including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive Directors 
and ensures the better understanding of the views of shareholders of the Company by all Directors. The extent of participation and 
contribution by the Directors should be viewed both quantitatively and qualitatively.

To fulfil their duties properly, where they consider it necessary to obtain additional information other than that is provided by the 
management, the Directors would make inquiries during the Board meetings and Board committee meetings. The queries raised by 
Directors have received prompt and full response by the management.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

The Directors are continually updated with legal and regulatory developments, and business and market changes to facilitate the 
discharge of their responsibilities through various Board meetings, resolutions, memos and Board papers. According to the records 
maintained by the Company, the Directors received the following training with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a 
director of a listed company in compliance with the requirement of the CG Code on continuous professional development for the 
year ended 31 December 2018:

Directors Read materials
Attend seminars/

briefings

Non-Executive Director
Mr. LIAO Qian (Chairman) ✓ ✓

Executive Directors
Mr. LI Jian (resigned on 7 March 2019) ✓ ✓

Mr. OUYANG Hongping (re-designated as CEO on 7 March 2019) ✓ ✓

Mr. WEN Xianzhen (appointed on 23 March 2018) ✓ ✓

Ms. YANG Yunfang (resigned on 23 March 2018) ✓ ✓

Mr. ZHAO Yong (resigned on 7 March 2019) ✓ ✓

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen ✓ ✓

Mr. LI Yang ✓ ✓

Mr. XU Yan ✓ ✓

Securities Transactions guidelines

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transaction on terms no less exacting than the required 
standard as set out in the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors and they have confirmed that for the year ended 31 December 2018, they 
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ 
securities transactions.
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After the year ended 31 December 2018, on 25 February 2019, Mr. Li Jian then executive Director and chief executive officer of 
the Company, has (i) exercised option (“Option”) granted to him on 18 March 2016 pursuant to the share option scheme of the 
Company to subscribe for 80,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) (representing approximately 0.0038% of the total number 
of issued Shares as at 25 February 2019) at the exercise price of HK$0.74 per Share (which was determined at the time of 
grant), and (ii) disposed on-market of the same parcel of 80,000 Shares at a price of HK$0.75 per Share (“Disposal”) without first 
notifying the designated Director pursuant to Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Whilst the exercise of Option did not constitute a 
dealing under the Model Code, the Disposal constituted a dealing within the Blackout Period and hence a breach of Rule A.3(a)(i) 
of the Model Code.

Mr. Li confirmed that he had inadvertently instructed the broker to place such order for the Disposal before notifying and obtaining 
clearance from the designated Director under Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Mr. Li undertook with the Company that he will 
comply with the required standards as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules in future. Mr. Li has resigned as an executive 
Director and from all positions he held in the Company with effect from 7 March 2019.

The Board is of the view that the Company has maintained an effective system in monitoring the Directors’ dealings (including a 
notification mechanism) to ensure compliance with Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. In particular, the Company has on 10 January 
2019 notified all Directors of the Blackout Period. In order to avoid similar incidents in the future, the Company has implemented 
and will implement the following actions:

(i) Remind all Directors the importance of complying with Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules in their dealings of the Shares and 
in particular the importance of giving written notice prior to conducting any intended dealings. The Company will also provide 
briefings to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance 
practices.

(ii) As all options granted by the Company to the Directors pursuant to its share option scheme are managed by a broker 
designated by the Company, the Company has (with consent of and on behalf of the Directors) instructed the relevant broker 
to refrain from processing and carrying out any instructions for exercising options and any subsequent dealings in such Shares 
by Directors during any prohibition period under Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

The Directors’ interests in shares of the Company as at 31 December 2018 are set out on page 42 of this annual report.

The Board has also established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code for the relevant employee, 
including any employee or a Director or employee of a subsidiary or holding company who, because of his office or employment, 
is likely to be in possession of inside information in relation to the Company or its securities, in respect of their dealings in the 
Company’s securities.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management Functions

The Board delegates its powers and authorities from time to time to the Board committees in order to ensure the operational 
efficiency and specific issues are being handled by relevant expertise. All Board committees are provided with accurate and 
sufficient information in a timely manner so as to enable the Board committees to make informed decisions for the benefit of the 
Company and provide sufficient resources for them to discharge their duties.

Board Committees

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board had 3 Board committees, namely the Remuneration Committee, the Audit 
Committee and the Nomination Committee, all with specific terms of reference, to oversee particular aspects of the Group’s affairs.



CHINA DISPLAY OPTOELECTRONICS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITEDAnnual Report 2018 25

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
 

Attendance of the relevant members of the Board committee at the meetings of the respective Board committees for the year 
ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

Audit 
Committee 

Meetings

Remuneration 
Committee 

Meetings

Nomination 
Committee 

Meeting

Non-Executive Director
Mr. LIAO Qian (Chairman) N/A 1/1 1/1

Executive Directors
Mr. LI Jian (resigned on 7 March 2019) N/A 1/1 1/1
Mr. OUYANG Hongping (re-designated as CEO  

on 7 March 2019) N/A N/A N/A
Mr. WEN Xianzhen (appointed on 23 March 2018) N/A N/A N/A
Ms. YANG Yunfang (resigned on 23 March 2018) N/A N/A N/A
Mr. ZHAO Yong (resigned on 7 March 2019) N/A N/A N/A

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen 2/2 1/1 1/1
Mr. LI Yang 2/2 1/1 1/1
Mr. XU Yan 2/2 1/1 1/1

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 25 June 2015. The majority of the members are independent non-executive 
Directors. This committee is chaired by Mr. LIAO Qian, a non-executive Director with Mr. LI Jian (from 25 June 2015 to 7 March 
2019) and subsequently Mr. OUYANG Hongping, an executive Director (since 7 March 2019), Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen, Mr. XU Yan 
and Mr. LI Yang, being independent non-executive Directors, as the other members. The committee held 1 meeting for the year 
ended 31 December 2018.

The Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which are closely aligned with the relevant Code Provisions 
requirements and are available on both the Company’s website at http://www.cdoth8.com and the Stock Exchange’s website at 
http://www.hkex.com.hk.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the followings:

• review and supervise the structure, size and composition of the Board;

• identify qualified individuals to become members of the Board;

• assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

• make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and succession of directors, and any proposed 
change to the composition of the Board to implement the Company’s corporate strategy;

• review the board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”); and

• review the sufficiency of time commitment of Directors to perform their responsibilities.
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The work performed by the Nomination Committee for the year ended 31 December 2018 included:

– reviewing the current Board structure, diversity and composition;

– assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and

– discussing and considering the Board composition during the said period and Board succession plan.

The Nomination Committee adopted a Nomination Policy which sets out the following procedures for nomination of Directors:

1. When there is a vacancy in the Board, the Nomination Committee evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience 
of the Board, and identifies any special requirements for the vacancy (e.g. independence status in the case of an independent 
non-executive Director).

2. The Nomination Committee will consider the role and capabilities required for the particular vacancy.

3. Identify a list of candidates through personal contacts or recommendations by Board members, senior management, business 
partners or investors, and will to the extent possible select from a broad range of candidates who are outside the Board’s 
circle of contacts in accordance with the Company’s Board Diversity Policy.

4. Arrange interview(s) with each candidate for the Nomination Committee to evaluate whether he/she meets the established 
selection and nomination criteria.

5. Conduct verification on information provided by the candidate.

6. Make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Policy also provides the following criteria for nomination of Directors:

1. Common criteria for all Directors:

(a) Reputation for character and integrity;

(b) the willingness to assume principal fiduciary responsibility;

(c) present needs of the Board for particular experience or expertise and whether the candidate would satisfy those needs;

(d) relevant experience, including experience at the strategy/policy setting level, high-level managerial experience in a 
complex organization, industry experience and familiarity with the products and processes used by the Company;

(e) significant business or public experience relevant and beneficial to the Board and the Company;

(f) breadth of knowledge about issues affecting the Company;

(g) ability to objectively analyse complex business problems and exercise sound business judgement;

(h) ability and willingness to contribute special competencies to Board activities;

(i) fit with the Company’s culture; and

(j) diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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2. Criteria applicable to non-executive Directors/independent non-executive Directors:

(a) willingness and ability to make sufficient time commitment to the affairs of the Company in order to effectively perform 
the duties of a Director, including attendance at and active participation in Board and Board committee meetings, 
which will include considering the other responsibility of the relevant candidate (such as other directorships held in 
public companies the securities of which are listed any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas and other major 
appointments, if any) and the effort and time that may be required by the candidate in fulfilling such role;

(b) accomplishments of the candidate in his/her field;

(c) outstanding professional and personal reputation; and

(d) the candidate’s ability to meet the independence criteria for directors established in the Listing Rules (for independent 
non-executive Directors).

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out its approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in 
order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company recognizes the benefits of Board diversity and endeavours to ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance 
and level of skills, experience and perspectives required to support the execution of its business strategies. The Company seeks 
to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and 
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take 
into consideration factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time to time in determining the optimal 
composition of the Board. All Board appointments and succession will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered 
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board has set measurable objectives (in terms of gender, skills and experience) to implement the Board Diversity Policy and 
has reviewed such objects from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards achieving 
those objectives. The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as and when appropriate, to ensure its 
continued effectiveness from time to time.

The Nomination Committee considers that the current composition of the Board is diversified after taking into account its own 
business model and specific needs, both in terms of professional background and skills.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. XU Yan, an independent non-executive Director. It currently consists of 5 members, 
including Mr. XU Yan, Mr. LIAO Qian, Mr. LI Jian (from 25 June 2015 to 7 March 2019) and subsequently Mr. OUYANG Hongping 
(since 7 March 2019), Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen and Mr. LI Yang, the majority of whom are independent non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which are made available on the Company’s website at  
http://www.cdoth8.com and the Stock Exchange’s website at http://www.hkex.com.hk.

The Remuneration Committee was established on 25 June 2015 pursuant to Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. It meets from time 
to time to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior 
management, and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing a policy on such remuneration. The 
Remuneration Committee also reviews and approves the performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and 
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time, and determines, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of 
individual executive directors and senior management.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting and accomplished the following:

– review of the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior management;

– discussion of long-term incentive scheme; and

– discussion of remuneration packages of Mr. WEN Xianzhen as the finance director and an executive Director of the Company.

The remuneration of Directors and the senior management by band for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out below:

Number of 
persons

Nil to HK$500,000 8
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1

The human resources department provides administrative support and implements the approved remuneration packages and other 
human resources related decisions approved by the Remuneration Committee.

Emolument Policy and Long-Term Incentive Plan

The Group provides a competitive remuneration package to its Directors to attract and retain talents. A large portion of the 
package for executive Directors is linked to their performance, which in turn is aligned with the interests of the shareholders, so 
as to provide an incentive for the executive Directors to achieve the best performance for the Group. Part of the remuneration 
of executive Directors may comprise of a long-term incentive plan which includes share options and restricted shares. The 
emoluments payable to the Directors are determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities with the Company and the 
market rate for the positions.

The purpose of the long-term incentive plan of the Group is to reward outstanding performance measured by achieved targets, 
which is closely linked with the performance of the Group. The benefit or award granted under the plan will only be vested over a 
period of time so as to provide an incentive for the executives or employees to consistently perform at a high standard and bring 
about long-term benefits to the Group.

The non-executive Directors’ compensation relates to their time commitment and responsibilities. They receive fees which 
comprise the following components:

• directors’ fee; and

• share options which are awarded subject to the discretion of the Board.

The fees and any other reimbursement or emolument payable to the Directors are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.
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Dividend Policy

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy of the Company, in considering whether to declare any dividend, the Board would consider factors 
in all aspects whether on the operating results, cash flow, financial condition and capital requirements of the Group and the 
interests of the shareholders of the Company, including but not limited to:

– the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

– retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group;

– the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant financial covenants;

– any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

– the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans;

– general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other internal or external factors that may have an 
impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Company; and

– any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.

If the Group records a profit and the Board, having considered factors of all aspects (including but not limited to those factors set 
out in above), is satisfied that the declaration and distribution of dividends does not affect the Group’s normal operations, and 
subject to compliance with any restrictions under the Companies Act of Bermuda and the Bye-Laws:

– the Company may declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”);

– the Company will take priority to distributing dividends in cash and shares its profits with the Shareholders;

– yet, any such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined at the sole discretion of the Board.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities in ensuring an effective 
and adequate system being in place for internal controls and for fulfilling the Group’s external financial reporting obligations 
and compliance with other legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee also reviews and monitors the scope and 
effectiveness of the work of external auditors.

The Audit Committee currently comprises 3 members, namely Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen, Mr. XU Yan and Mr. LI Yang, all of whom 
are independent non-executive Directors. Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen is the chairlady of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee usually meets at least 2 times a year to review the Company’s interim and annual results and the integrity of 
the Group’s financial statements. In addition, in order to review and monitor the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance 
with applicable standards, the Audit Committee will meet with the external auditors of the Company before the commencement of 
the annual audit to discuss the nature and scope of audit and reporting obligations of the Company.

The Audit Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which are made available on the Company’s website at http://www.
cdoth8.com and the Stock Exchange’s website at http://www.hkex.com.hk.
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The work performed by the Audit Committee for the year ended 31 December 2018 included considering the following matters:

• the completeness and accuracy of the 2017 annual report and the 2018 interim financial statements;

• the Group’s compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements;

• developments in accounting standards and their effect on the Group;

• the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group;

• the internal control reports submitted by the internal control team of the Company;

• the internal audit reports submitted by the internal audit team of the Company;

• the audit fees payable to external auditors, the scope and timetable of the audit for year 2018; and

• adoption of the procedure to ensure compliance with the deed of non-competitions in favour of the Group.

The Audit Committee has been advised that it may seek independent professional advice at the expense of the Company wherever 
necessary. The Audit Committee is also supported by the members of the internal audit team of the Company.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment in annual and interim reports, inside information 
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for the preparation of the accounts for each financial period which should give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs, the results and cash flows of the Group for that period.

The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set 
out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 53 to 57.

The Directors, having made appropriate and reasonable enquiries, consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future and hence decide that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements set out 
on pages 64 to 137 on a going concern basis. The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The basis on which the Company generates or preserves value over the longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives 
are explained in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out in pages 6 to 13 in this annual report.

The management provides the Board with sufficient explanation and information, such as the Group’s major business activities and 
key financial information, to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial information and position of the 
Company put before the Board for approval.

The management also provides all Directors with monthly updates giving them a balanced and understandable assessment of the 
Company’s performance, financial position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each director to 
discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of Listing Rules.
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Internal Control and Risk Management Systems

The Board is responsible for ensuring that an appropriate and effective internal control and risk management system are 
established and maintained within the Group. Whilst the risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss, the directors acknowledge their responsibility to establish, maintain and review from time 
to time the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems. The Company establishes an annual risk 
management and internal control plan every year. Every year, staff at the relevant departments are requested by the Company’s 
internal control task force to conduct a self-evaluation on internal control, to allow the Company to identify any deficiencies in 
its internal control practices. Results of the risk management and internal control evaluation are reported to the management 
and independent directors by email on a quarterly basis, and are submitted to the Board half-yearly for the preparation of risk 
management and internal control report. Being a subsidiary of TCL Corporation (the ultimate controlling shareholder of the 
Company), the Company’s risk management and internal control systems are annually reviewed by Da Hua Certified Public 
Accountants, the external auditor engaged by TCL Corporation, to determine their effectiveness. The Directors, through the Audit 
Committee, have reviewed the effectiveness of all material aspects of the internal control and risk management systems of the 
Group, including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s 
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function and concluded that the risk management and internal control systems 
were adequate and effective during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Group has adopted a set of internal control policies and procedures to ensure proper maintenance of accounting records and 
reliability of financial reporting, and to ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations. The Company prepares a risk 
checklist with reference to the industry practices and a risk matrix supplied by Deloitte. Based on the risk checklist, the Company 
conducts periodic or specific examination on its work processes and operations, in order to identify, assess and manage its 
exposure to risks from operating activities, as well as for the purposes of process monitoring.

The Company exercises audit control over its business activities by developing corporate mechanisms, management measures 
and operating guidelines, and creating segregated posts. In addition, internal control investigations are regularly conducted by the 
Company’s internal control task force. The Company’s risk management and internal control systems are regularly reviewed by 
external audit firms (quality control organisations and auditors).

Certain executive Directors and senior management have been delegated with respective level of authorities and have specific 
responsibility for monitoring the performance of business operating units. Annual budgets of the Group and quarterly financial 
reports have been provided to the Board.

Each year, the Audit Committee of the Company reviews the findings made by the external auditors in respect of issues 
encountered by them in the preparation of the audit report, which often covers issues relating to internal control. The Audit 
Committee also reviews the internal control report submitted by the Company’s internal audit team. The Audit Committee will then 
review the actions performed or the plans to be carried out by the management in addressing the issues. The issues identified and 
the corresponding remedial plans and recommendations are then submitted to the Board for consideration.

The Company has adopted its own Information Disclosure Guideline (approved by the Board on 19 June 2015) which, among 
others, sets out the procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside information. The Company has 
established the Disclosure Executive Committee which has been authorised by the Board to coordinate and organise disclosure of 
the inside information of the Company.
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Internal Audit Functions:

The Company’s internal audit team independently reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal 
control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance aspects of the Company’s key business activities. The head of 
the Company’s internal audit team reports to the Audit Committee, and submits regular reports for its review in accordance with 
the approved review and audit mechanisms. The department submits a detailed report at least once a year to the Board for its 
review and monitors the effectiveness of the of internal control systems of the Group.

The Audit Committee had reviewed and was satisfied with the adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and experience, 
training programmes and budget of the Group’s internal audit function.

Connected Transactions:

The Company is committed to ensuring compliance with regulatory requirements under the Listing Rules, applicable laws and 
regulations in relation to connected transactions. Accordingly, the Company had implemented various internal control mechanisms 
to capture and monitor connected transactions to ensure that connected transactions are conducted under normal commercial 
terms or better and on terms that are fair and reasonable and properly disclosed and (if necessary) approved by the independent 
shareholders in accordance with Listing Rules. The relevant connected persons will be required to abstain from voting in the 
general meetings. Details of the connected transactions of the Company during the year are set out in the Report of the Directors 
at page 49 to 50.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year under review, the remuneration paid for services provided by the auditor is approximately as follows:

Statutory audit services HK$1,400,000
Non-audit services (including agreed-upon procedures on interim financial statements) HK$350,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of company secretary is held by Ms. CHEUNG Bo Man, a practising solicitor of Hong Kong, who is not an employee of 
the Company. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has assigned Ms. Clara SIU, the Vice Director of Finance 
and Investor Relations of the Company and Mr. PENG Bo, the Legal Manager of the Company as the contact persons with the 
company secretary. The company secretary is responsible to the Board and reports to the Board Chairman from time to time. All 
Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable laws, 
rules and regulations are followed and complied with.

Since Ms. CHEUNG was appointed on 25 April 2017, she has to take no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during 
the year 2018. She has fulfilled such requirement during the year under review.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Group recognizes the importance of the principles of timeliness, fairness and transparency regarding information disclosure, 
and ensures that the information disclosure is in compliance with the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. We also 
highly value investor feedback and comments for establishing operational strategies to facilitate the Group’s growth and sustainable 
development and to enhance shareholder value.

The objectives of our investor relations programs are to promote effective communication with the investment community through 
various channels to enhance their knowledge and understanding of the Group’s development and strategies. The investor relations 
team conducts in-depth discussion on the Group’s latest developments and future business plans with institutional investors and 
analysts through different channels, including investor meetings, conference calls, non-deal roadshows and factory visits. During the 
year under review, the Group had arranged non-deal road shows and investor conferences in Hong Kong, Shenzhen, and Beijing in 
which research analysts and institutional investors attended with favorable response.

The general meetings of the Company provide the best opportunity for communication between the Board and the shareholders of 
the Company.

The Chairman of the Board and chairman of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee or, 
in their absence, other members of the respective committees and, where applicable, the members of the independent Board 
committee, are available to answer questions at the shareholders’ meetings. Representatives of the Company’s external auditor, 
Ernst & Young also attended the annual general meeting held on 8 June 2018 to answer questions in relation to the audit process, 
the preparation and contents of the auditors’ report, the relevant accounting policies and auditor independence.

All published information, including all the statutory announcements and press releases, is promptly posted on the 
Company’s website at http://www.cdoth8.com. For inquiries and suggestions, please send an email to ir.cdot@tcl.com or 
cdot@cornerstonescom.com, or directly by raising questions at the general meeting of the Company.

Voting by Poll

The chairman of the meeting would explain the voting procedure and answer any questions from the shareholders regarding voting 
by poll at the general meetings. The poll results of the general meetings were published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and 
the Company respectively on the same day after the relevant general meetings were held.

Shareholders’ Rights to Convene a Special General Meeting

Under bye-law 58 of the Bye-Laws, shareholders at the date of deposit of the requisition holding not less than one-tenth of the 
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by 
written requisition to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in 
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself 
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure 
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Communication with Shareholders and Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholders communication policy was formulated and adopted on 25 June 2015 in order to ensure the shareholders are 
provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information about the Company. The Board has 
taken appropriate steps to provide effective communication with shareholders.

All published information, including all the statutory announcements and press releases, is promptly posted on the Company’s 
website at http://www.cdoth8.com. Shareholders can also send enquiries and proposals putting forward for shareholders’ 
consideration at shareholder meetings to the Board or senior management.

Investors can submit enquiries to management by sending emails to ir.cdot@tcl.com or cdot@cornerstonescom.com or directly 
by raising questions at the general meetings of the Company. The Company’s dedicated investor relations team takes a proactive 
approach to communicate with existing and potential investors in a timely manner by making regular face-to-face meetings and 
conference calls with investors.

Constitutional Documents

During the year under review, no amendment had been made to the Bye-Laws.

Conclusion

Going forward, the Company will continue to work diligently to maintain the highest level of corporate transparency possible. 
The timely disclosure of relevant corporate information includes annual and interim reports, statutory announcements and 
press releases are available on the Company’s website at http://www.cdoth8.com. Enquiries and proposals to be put forward at 
shareholder meetings can also be sent to the Board or senior management by contacting the investor relations team via e-mail to 
ir.cdot@tcl.com or cdot@cornerstonescom.com, or directly through the questions and answers session at shareholder meetings or 
press conference.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

In 2018, the Group embraced its business approach of “progressive revolution and solid foundation”. It launched a series of 
human resources management practices, which serve as a direct and effective support for the Group’s strategy implementation, 
organisational performance improvement and staff development.

Basic Information on Human Resources

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 4,032 employees. The male-to-female ratio was 1.4:1. The overall turnover rate 
was 9.9%.

Employees by Geographic Region as of 31 December 2018:

China 4,030
Hong Kong 2

Employees by Age as of 31 December 2018:

Employees aged 18 to 30 3,139
Employees aged above 30 893

Key Efforts on Human Resources

To align with its development strategies, the Group took a range of proactive and corresponding measures to improve its staff 
appraisal and incentives, recruitment, training and development, strategic communication and morale:

– The Group’s remuneration philosophy is “ability-oriented, performance-oriented and value-added-oriented”. The Group 
has developed a set of tactics to realise its strategic objectives, together with a complementary appraisal and incentive 
mechanism, which further strengthen results orientation.

– In light of the development of the industry and the changing competition landscape, cultivating and selecting talents for future 
promotion have become top priorities for the Group’s development. The Group values the development of employees and is 
committed to providing special and professional development channels for employees. In 2018, a total of 44 employees from 
five departments including R&D department, engineering department, manufacturing department, quality control department 
and product management department participated in qualifications certification of different levels across 5 professional 
channels, and 40 passed the qualifications certification after review and assessment by a panel of professional adjudicators.

– The Group attaches importance to staff training and development. In 2018, in addition to various internal professional training 
made available to employees, the Group also funded 53 employees to participate in external professional and public courses. 
During the Review Period, the Group hired external professional trainer to conduct 9 training sessions in the headquarters 
located in Huizhou. Training topics covered four areas, namely safety, quality control, professional management/skills, and 
general studies. A total of 328 employees attended these training sessions, with cumulative hours for training exceeding 
3,995 hours. During the Review Period, the ratio of male to female training participants in the Group was 1.27 to 1. The 
Group believes that these training programme was designed to develop the individual potential of managers, to increase 
team vitality, cohesion and creativity, to give knowledge to middle managerial staff on modern business management, and to 
inspire them to fully use their creativity to drive corporate efficiency.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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– An excellent management and strategy approach enjoying international recognition, Six Sigma aims to reduce product and 
service deficiencies through setting extremely high targets, collecting information and conducting analysis on results. Six Sigma 
training is one of the annual key training initiatives and achieves synergy as the Group “pursues excellence in product quality”. 
At the end of 2018, the Group hired professional trainers externally to conduct Six Sigma training and project coaching. A total 
of 24 technicians from different departments attended the systematic training and launched a Six Sigma initiative, expected to 
complete in mid-2019.

– The Group cares about its employees, offering various interest classes such as swimming, badminton, basketball and yoga 
regularly and even hosts annual contests for certain sports. Starting from 2018, the Group holds regular monthly birthday 
parties for employees whose birthdays fall in the same month, sharing the joy of their birthdays.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

School-Enterprise Cooperation

The Group has launched a range of Hawk Series and P Series training schemes through campus recruitment, building a pool of 
qualified technical talents for the Company’s development. In 2018, the Group extended the collaboration with Beijing Normal 
University, Zhuhai, and progressively accelerated the cooperation with tertiary institutions. In addition to the Eyas Project designed 
for fresh university graduates, the Group also continued to focus on higher and secondary vocational institutions, aiming to 
offer more outstanding graduate interns the opportunity to join the Group and become potential management members of the 
Company.

Environmental Protection and Charity Services

The Group always adheres to a highly responsible attitude towards its employees, customers, stakeholders and the environment. 
In the entire production process from raw material sourcing to marketing, the Group has put in place strict regulation and control 
on toxic and hazardous substances. In accordance with the international regulation such as the European Union’s Restriction of 
Hazardous Substances (RoHS), Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH) etc.,, the Group with 
considerable manpower, materials and financial funding to prohibit those substances in all production, packaging, distribution and 
marketing stages, so as to avoid any occurrence of harmful incidents that may cause physical and health injuries to employees, 
risks to consumers’ safety, and destructions to the natural environment. In addition, in order to raise employee awareness over toxic 
and hazardous substances, the Group organises relevant training programmes for the staff concerned every year.

The Group has developed and continually optimize its environmental, toxic and Hazardous Substance, occupational health, social 
responsibility, energy and greenhouse gas management system from 2008 consecutively for better fulfillment of the social 
responsibility. In 2018, the Group promotes the concept of clean production by carrying out relevant activities in an environmental 
friendly manner. All of the production lines of the Group were verified by the experts and reached the provincial standards. During 
the review period, the group passed the Convergence of Industrialization and Informatization management system certification; and 
the Group’s products was accredited as Carbon Footprint Certification.

In 2018, the Group actively responded to the charity activities promoted by the Lions Clubs, an international non-profit 
organization, and made donations of RMB28,000 to Shenzhen Lions Clubs.

During the Review Period, to promote employees’ environmental protection awareness, the Group called for all staff to participate 
in the Tree Planting Activity in Honghua Lake Scenic Area in Huizhou. The staff rendered great support to protecting the 
environment through active participation in the activity, making contributions to Huizhou’s environmental protection initiatives.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out 
in note 1 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the 
year ended 31 December 2018.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at that date 
are set out in the financial statements on pages 64 to 137.

The Board do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: 2.00 HK cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out on pages 7 to 10 of this annual report. 
Discussions on non-financial performance including human resources management initiatives are disclosed in the section headed 
“Human Resources and Social Responsibility” of this annual report. The above discussions form part of this Report of the Directors.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a 
review of the business of the Group, discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the material factors 
underlying its results and financial position, and an indication of the outlook of the business of the Group, is set out under sections 
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 13 of this Annual Report. Those 
discussions form part of this Report of the Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has complied with regulations related to occupational safety, including but not limited to the Fire Prevention Law of the 
People’s Republic of China, the Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic of 
China on the Prevention and Control of Occupation Diseases. The Group maintains the occupational safety of employees mainly 
by the following methods: weekly inspection of safety production risks including risks of fire, piling up of hazardous materials and 
electricity; regular disinfection of workplace and arranging professional medical institutions for physical examination for employees; 
accelerating the automatization of factories, assigning dangerous operation to machines to prevent employees from being injured.

The Group has also complied with regulations related to production materials and emission, including but not limited to the 
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China. The Group carries out supervision mainly by the following 
methods: regular commissioning of professional institutions to implement indicator monitoring on pollution discharge so as to meet 
the national standard; reasonable storage and isolation of dangerous materials; strict selection of suppliers to source materials that 
meet the EU REACH and ROHS standards first.

As at 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report, the Board was unaware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws 
and regulations which had a significant impact on the Company.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Some significant risk and uncertainties affecting the Group are outlined below. They are not exhaustive and there may be other 
additional risks and uncertainties which are now unknown or immaterial to the Group but could become material in future.

Market competition

Substantially all of the Group’s revenue are attributable to the revenue from smartphone display modules for the consumer 
mobile device market. Therefore, the general state of the global economy, market condition and consumers’ behaviour may 
have significant impact on the operating results and financial condition of the Group. The global market for the Group’s products 
and services is highly competitive and is subject to ever-changing technological advancements, market development, changes in 
customer needs, evolving industry standards, and frequent product launches and upgrades.

To minimise this risk, the Group continues its efforts on research and development to broaden its product and technology 
platforms and enhance its product competitiveness, which enable the Group to extend its reach to different end products so as to 
diversify its source of revenue and profit, and in turn reduce its dependency on one single type of product. In addition, the Group 
continues to strengthen its customer relationship and refine its sales strategy, in order to maintain robust profitability of the Group.

Foreign Exchange Risks

The Group reports its results in Renminbi but the Group’s business and operations is facing the international market. Consequently, 
the Group is exposed to potential adverse impact of currency fluctuations on translation of the accounts. Although the Group 
actively manages its currency exposures, depreciation or fluctuation of the currencies in which the Group conducts its operations 
relative to the Renminbi could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial condition and operational results.

The Group is committed to striking a balance among trades, assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies 
to achieve a natural hedging effect. The Group enters into various forward currency contracts from time to time to manage its 
exchange rate exposure. In addition, pursuant to the principal of prudent financial management, the Group has not conducted or 
engaged in any high-risk derivative transactions.

As regards the risks concerning the Group’s customers and suppliers, please refer to the paragraph headed “Customers and 
Suppliers” under Management Discussion and Analysis on page 13, which discussions form part of this Report of the Directors.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interest of the Group for the last five financial years, as 
extracted from the relevant financial statements is set out on page 138. This summary does not form part of the audited financial 
statements.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 3 June 2019, Monday to 6 June 2019, Thursday (both dates 
inclusive), for the purposes of determining the entitlements of the shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM. 
No transfer of the shares may be registered during the said period. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers 
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, 
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 31 
May 2019, Friday.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in 
note 13 to the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued during the year ended 31 December 2018, together with the reasons therefore are set out in note 25 
to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda (“Bermuda Law”) which would 
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to the rules of the restricted share award scheme adopted by the Company on 17 March 2016, the Company instructed 
the trustee for the scheme to purchase from the market a total of 1,664,000 shares being the restricted shares during the year. 
The total amount paid to acquire such shares was approximately equivalent to RMB1,518,000.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed 
securities during the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in 
note 38 to the financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available for distribution amounted to RMB167,911,000, none of which has 
been proposed as a final dividend for the year. Under Bermuda Law, a company may make distribution to its shareholders out of 
contributed surplus.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group made charitable contributions totalling approximately RMB28,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended 31 December 2018 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and 
customers are as follows:

Purchases

– the largest supplier 17%
– the five largest suppliers combined 41%

Sales

– the largest customer 44%
– the five largest customers combined 77%

TCL Corporation, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, is interested in approximately 87.80% of Shenzhen CSOT, 
which subsidiaries are one of the five largest suppliers and customers of the Group. Save as aforesaid, none of the Directors of the 
Company, their associates or shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s 
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report were:

Non-Executive Director

Mr. LIAO Qian (Chairman)

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Jian (resigned on 7 March 2019)
Mr. OUYANG Hongping (re-designated as CEO on 7 March 2019)
Mr. WEN Xianzhen (appointed on 23 March 2018)
Ms. YANG Yunfang (resigned on 23 March 2018)
Mr. ZHAO Jun (appointed on 7 March 2019)
Mr. ZHAO Yong (resigned on 7 March 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen
Mr. LI Yang
Mr. XU Yan

Ms. YANG Yunfang resigned as a Director of the Company with effect from 23 March 2018 due to her other personal commitments 
which require more of her dedication and time commitment. Ms. YANG had confirmed that she had no claim whatsoever against 
the Company for fees, compensation for loss of office, remuneration, severance payments, pension, expenses or otherwise and 
there had been no disagreement with the Board and there had been no matter relating to her resignation that had needed to be 
brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Mr. LI Jian resigned as a Director of the Company with effect from 7 March 2019 due to his other personal commitments which 
require more of his dedication and time commitment. Mr. LI had confirmed that he had no claim whatsoever against the Company 
for fees, compensation for loss of office, remuneration, severance payments, pension, expenses or otherwise and there had been 
no disagreement with the Board and there had been no matter relating to his resignation that had needed to be brought to the 
attention of the shareholders of the Company.
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Mr. ZHAO Yong resigned as a Director of the Company with effect from 7 March 2019 due to his other personal commitments 
which require more of his dedication and time commitment. Mr. ZHAO had confirmed that he had no claim whatsoever against the 
Company for fees, compensation for loss of office, remuneration, severance payments, pension, expenses or otherwise and there 
had been no disagreement with the Board and there had been no matter relating to his resignation that had needed to be brought 
to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

According to bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, any person appointed as a Director to fill a casual vacancy on the Board shall hold 
office until the first general meeting of members of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such 
meeting.

Given Mr. ZHAO Jun was appointed on 7 March 2019 to fill the casual vacancy arising from the resignation of Mr. LI Jian and Mr. 
ZHAO Yong, Mr. ZHAO Jun shall hold office until the forthcoming AGM, being the first general meeting of members of the Company 
after his appointment, and be subject to re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

According to bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if 
their number is not a multiple of three (3), then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by 
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

According to bye-law 84(2) of the Bye-laws, a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director 
throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the 
number of directors to retire by rotation) any director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any further 
Directors so to retire shall be those who have been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and so that as 
between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree 
among themselves) be determined by lot. Any Director appointed pursuant to bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws shall not be taken 
into account in determining which particular Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation.

Accordingly, Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen and Mr. LI Yang shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 
forthcoming AGM.

The proposed re-election of each of Mr. ZHAO Jun, Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen and Mr. LI Yang will be considered by separate 
resolutions at the forthcoming AGM. An ordinary resolution will also be proposed at the forthcoming AGM for the purpose of 
authorizing the Board to fix their remuneration.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive directors to be independent.

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals (including senior management) during the 
financial year are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements, respectively.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND LONG-TERM INCENTIVE SCHEMES

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report contained on pages 18 to 34 of this annual report for the Group’s emolument 
policy and long-term incentive schemes, as well as the basis for determining the remuneration payable to the Directors.

PENSION SCHEMES

Particulars of the Group’s pension schemes are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 14 to 17 of 
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable 
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

None of the Directors or their connected entities had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, 
arrangements and contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, holding 
companies or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year ended 31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND 
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and/or short position of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in shares in the 
Company (“Shares”), underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”), which (i) were required to be notified to 
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest and short positions 
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were recorded in the register required to be 
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Interests in the Company – Long Positions

Name of Director

Number of 
Ordinary Shares 

Held Personal 
Interest

Number of 
Shares Held 

under Equity 
Derivatives Total

Approximate 
Percentage of 
Issued Share 

Capital of 
the Company

(Note 1) (Note 2)

LI Jian (resigned on 7 March 2019) 19,925,785 11,514,998 31,440,783 1.51%
OUYANG Hongping 14,037,998 9,076,528 23,114,526 1.11%
ZHAO Yong (resigned on 7 March 2019) 10,450,145 2,885,499 13,335,644 0.64%
HSU Wai Man, Helen – 260,000 260,000 0.01%
LI Yang – 260,000 260,000 0.01%
XU Yan – 260,000 260,000 0.01%

Notes:

1. These equity derivatives were outstanding share options granted to the relevant Directors under a share option scheme of the 
Company.

2. Such percentage was calculated based on the number of Shares and underlying Shares of the Company in which the relevant Director 
was interested as notified to the Company and disclosed on the website of the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, against 
the number of issued Shares of the Company as at 31 December 2018, being 2,086,718,219 Shares in issue.
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Interests in Associated Corporation of the Company – Long Positions

TCL Corporation (“TCL Corporation”) (Note 1)

Name of Director

Number of 
Ordinary Shares Held

Number of 
Shares Held 

under Equity 
Derivatives Total

Approximate 
Percentage of 
Issued Share 

Capital of 
TCL CorporationPersonal Interest Other Interest

(Note 2)

OUYANG Hongping 26,600 – – 26,600 0.0002%

Notes:

1. TCL Corporation, a joint stock company established under the laws of the PRC, is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company.

2. Such percentage was calculated based on the number of issued share capital of TCL Corporation as at 31 December 2018, being 
13,549,648,507 Shares in issue, as informed by TCL Corporation.

TCL Electronics Holdings Limited (“TCL Electronics”, formerly known as “TCL Multimedia Technology Holdings 
Limited”) (Note 1)

Name of Director

Number of 
Ordinary Shares Held

Number of 
Shares Held 

under Equity 
Derivatives Total

Approximate 
Percentage of 
Issued Share 

Capital of 
TCL ElectronicsPersonal Interest Other Interest

(Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 4)

LIAO Qian 65,986 44,355 353,206 463,547 0.02%
ZHAO Yong  

(resigned on 7 March 2019) 1,333 – – 1,333 0.00006%

Notes:

1. TCL Electronics is a subsidiary of TCL Corporation.

2. The interests were restricted shares that have been granted to the relevant Director under the share award scheme of TCL Electronics 
and were not vested as at 31 December 2018.

3. The equity derivatives were share options granted to the relevant Director under the share option scheme of TCL Electronics which 
have not been exercised as at 31 December 2018.

4. Such percentage was calculated based on the number of issued Shares of TCL Electronics as at the 31 December 2018, being 
2,335,493,874 Shares, as disclosed on the website of the Stock Exchange.



44 CHINA DISPLAY OPTOELECTRONICS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2018

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
 

Tonly Electronics Holdings Limited (“Tonly Electronics”) (Note 1)

Name of Director

Number of 
Ordinary Shares Held

Number of 
Shares Held 

under Equity 
Derivatives Total

Approximate 
Percentage of 
Issued Share 

Capital of 
Tonly 

ElectronicsPersonal Interest Other Interest
(Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 4)

LIAO Qian 42,606 35,140 657,274 735,020 0.27%
ZHAO Yong  

(resigned on 7 March 2019) 133 – – 133 0.00005%

Notes:

1. Tonly Electronics is a subsidiary of TCL Corporation.

2. The interests were restricted shares that have been granted to the relevant Director under the share award scheme of Tonly 
Electronics and were not vested as at 31 December 2018.

3. The equity derivatives were share options granted to the relevant Director under the share option scheme of Tonly Electronics which 
have not been exercised as at 31 December 2018.

4. Such percentage was calculated based on the number of issued Shares of Tonly Electronics as at the 31 December 2018, being 
268,474,420 Shares, as disclosed on the website of the Stock Exchange.

Huizhou Techne Corporation (“Huizhou Techne”) (Note 1)

Name of Director

Number of 
Ordinary Shares Held

Number of 
Shares Held 

under Equity 
Derivatives Total

Approximate 
Percentage of 
Issued Share 

Capital of 
Huizhou TechnePersonal Interest Other Interest

(Note 2)

LI Jian (resigned on 7 March 2019) 427,000 – – 427,000 0.59%
OUYANG Hongping 339,200 – – 339,200 0.47%
WEN Xianzhen 364,400 – – 364,400 0.51%
ZHAO Yong  

(resigned on 7 March 2019) 967,806 – – 967,806 1.34%

Notes:

1. Huizhou Techne is a subsidiary of TCL Corporation.

2. Such percentage was calculated based on the number of issued share capital of Huizhou Techne as at 31 December 2018, being 
72,009,400 Shares in issue, as informed by Huizhou Techne. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors nor the chief executives of the Company had registered 
an interest and/or short position in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest and short positions which they are taken or 
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or 
(iii) as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S AND OTHER PERSON’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the person (other than a director or chief executive of the Company) 
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company 
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest
Number of 

Shares held

Approximate 
percentage of 

issued share 
capital of 

the Company
(Note 3)

TCL Corporation Interest of controlled corporation 1,357,439,806
(Note 1)

65.05%

Shenzhen China Star Optoelectronics 
Technology Co., Ltd.

Interest of controlled corporation 1,357,439,806
(Note 2)

65.05%

Notes:

1. For the purpose of the SFO, TCL Corporation is deemed to be interested in 1,357,439,806 Shares, all of which are indirectly held 
through High Value Ventures Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of China Star Optoelectronics International (HK) Limited, which in 
turn is wholly owned by Shenzhen China Star Optoelectronics Technology Co., Ltd. which is owned as to 87.80% by TCL Corporation.

2. For the purpose of the SFO, Shenzhen China Star Optoelectronics Technology Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in 1,357,439,806 
Shares, all of which are indirectly held through High Value Ventures Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of China Star Optoelectronics 
International (HK) Limited, which in turn is wholly-owned by Shenzhen China Star Optoelectronics Technology Co., Ltd..

3. Such percentage was calculated based on the total number of Shares in which each of the substantial shareholders was interested as 
disclosed on the website of the Stock Exchange against the number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2018, being 
2,086,718,219 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Directors were not aware of any other persons who had interests or short 
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the 
provisions in Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme as disclosed under the heading “Share Option Scheme” and “Share 
Award Scheme”, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2018 were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 
of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or his/her spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were 
any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries a 
party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

By way of a resolution of the shareholders of the Company passed on the further special general meeting of the Company on 11 
March 2015, the Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) with effect from the resumption of trading in 
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange on 25 June 2015, the purpose of which is to recognise and motivate the contribution 
of the eligible participants and to provide incentives and help the Group in retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional 
employees and to provide them with a direct economic interest in attaining the long term business objectives of the Group.

The major terms of the Share Option Scheme, in conjunction with the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, are set 
out in note 27 to the financial statements in this annual report. As at 31 December 2018, the number of shares of the Company 
available for issue in respect thereof was 172,149,980 shares, representing approximately 8.25% of the then issued shares of the 
Company.

The Directors have estimated the values of the share options granted, calculated using the binomial option pricing model as at 
the date of grant of the share options as set out in note 27 to the financial statements in this annual report, which are subject 
to certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective nature of and uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions of the 
expected future performance input to the model, and certain inherent limitations of the model itself.

As at 31 December 2018, total number of Shares of the Company that could be issued upon exercise of (i) all outstanding share 
options and; (ii) all share options that could be granted under the then available scheme mandate limit was 237,330,410 Shares, 
which represented about 11.37% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2018.
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Movements of the share options under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2018 are as follows:

Number of share options

Name or category of participant

As at 
1 January 

2018

Granted 
during 

the period

Exercised 
during 

the period

Lapsed 
during 

the period

Cancelled 
during 

the period

Forfeited 
during 

the period

As at 
31 December 

2018

Date of 
grant of 

share 
options

Closing 
price of 
Shares 

immediately 
before the 

date of 
grant of 

share 
options

Exercise 
price of 

share 
options

Exercise 
period of 

share 
options

(Note 4) (Note 5) HK$ HK$

LI Jian (resigned on 7 March 2019) 11,514,998 – – – – – 11,514,998 18 March 2016 0.73 0.74 Note 1
OUYANG Hongping 9,076,528 – – – – – 9,076,528 18 March 2016 0.73 0.74 Note 1
ZHAO Yong (resigned on 7 March 2019) 2,885,499 – – – – – 2,885,499 18 March 2016 0.73 0.74 Note 1
HSU Wai Man, Helen 260,000 – – – – – 260,000 18 March 2016 0.73 0.74 Note 1
LI Yang 260,000 – – – – – 260,000 18 March 2016 0.73 0.74 Note 1
XU Yan 260,000 – – – – – 260,000 18 March 2016 0.73 0.74 Note 1
Other employees of the Group 41,361,706 – 2,683,600 1,630,200 – – 37,047,906 18 March 2016 0.73 0.74 Note 1
Employees of TCL Group (Note 2) 4,059,499 – 184,000 – – – 3,875,499 18 March 2016 0.73 0.74 Note 3

Notes:

1. (i) 50% of such share options are exercisable commencing from 18 December 2016 to 17 March 2022; (ii) 30% of such share 
options are exercisable commencing from 18 December 2017 to 17 March 2022; and (iii) the remaining 20% of such share options 
are exercisable commencing from 18 December 2018 to 17 March 2022. In any event, no share option can be exercised after 17 
March 2022.

2. This represents participants who have contributed to the Group and who are also employees of TCL Corporation (the ultimate 
controlling shareholder of the Company) and/or its subsidiaries.

3. Subject to the fulfillment of the conditions that the relevant holder (i) has paid the costs incurred or to be incurred by the Company 
for the relevant part of the share options and (ii) remains to be an employee of TCL Group on 31 December 2016, 31 December 
2017 and 31 December 2018 respectively, (a) 50% of such share options are exercisable commencing from 18 December 2016 to 
17 March 2022; (b) 30% of such share options are exercisable commencing from 18 December 2017 to 17 March 2022; and (c) 
the remaining 20% of such share options are exercisable commencing from 18 December 2018 to 17 March 2022. In any event, no 
share option can be exercised after 17 March 2022.

4. The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the dates on which share options were exercised was 
HK$1.0873.

5. The 1,630,200 share options lapsed in accordance to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, were regarded as forfeited under 
applicable accounting standards. For further details, please refer to note 27 to the financial statements.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board on 17 March 2016 resolved to adopt the share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”), for the purposes of 
providing incentives to the participants under Share Award Scheme. The share award scheme was subsequently approved by the 
special general meeting on 11 May 2016.

Pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme, the Board may, from time to time, at its sole and absolute discretion designate 
an award (“Award” and collectively “Awards”) to be made to a selected participant (“Selected Person” and collectively “Selected 
Persons”). Participants of the Share Award Scheme cover any employee, adviser, consultant, agent, contractor, client or supplier of 
any member of the Group and any employee or officer of any affiliated company whom the Board in its sole discretion considers 
may contribute or have contributed to the Group.

Awards may be satisfied by (i) existing shares to be acquired by the trustee engaged by the Company for the purpose of 
administrating the Share Award Scheme (the “Trustee”), from the market, or (ii) new shares to be allotted and issued to the Trustee 
by the Company, in both case the costs of which will be borne by the Company, and will be held on trust by the trustee for the 
Selected Persons until the end of each vesting period subject to fulfilment of the vesting conditions (if any) in accordance with the 
provisions of the Share Award Scheme. For further details, please see note 26 to the financial statements.

Movements in the number of the Company’s Awarded Shares under the Share Award Scheme during the year are as follows:

Number of awarded shares

Name or category of participant

At 
1 January 

2018

Granted 
during 

the year

Vested 
during 

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed/

deducted 
during 

the year

At 
31 December 

2018
Date of 

Grant
Vesting 

date

Fair Value 
HK$ per 

share

Other employees and those who have  
contributed or may contribute to  
the Group in aggregate 6,831,165 – 6,831,165 – – 9-8-17 12-1-18 1.02

Sub-total 6,831,165 – 6,831,165 – –

Total 6,831,165 – 6,831,165 – –
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group entered into a number of continuing connected transactions with TCL 
Corporation (being the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company) and its associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) 
(collectively, the “TCL Group”).

The Group carried out the following continuing connected transactions (other than continuing connected transactions that are fully 
exempted under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules) during the year ended 31 December 2018:

(a) Pursuant to the Master Factoring Agreement dated 1 April 2016 entered into between the Company, TCL Corporation and TCL 
Commercial Factoring (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. (“Factoring Co”, an associate of TCL Corporation) for a term commencing from 16 
June 2016 to 31 December 2018, Factoring Co has provided factoring services to the Group (“Factoring Services”) and the 
Group has provided promotion services to Factoring Co (“Promotion Services”).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, account receivables of the Group in the amount of nil have been factored 
and the Group paid nil as service fees to Factoring Co for the Factoring Services provided by Factoring Co, and received 
RMB1,038,000 from Factoring Co as service fees for the Promotion Services provided by the Group.

Further details of the Master Factoring Agreement were set out in the circulars of the Company dated 25 May 2016 and 20 
September 2018.

(b) Pursuant to the Licence Agreement (Hong Kong Science Park) dated 1 December 2016 entered into between the Company 
and TCL Corporate Research (Hong Kong) Co., Limited (“TCL Corporate Research”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of TCL 
Corporation) for a period commencing from 1 December 2016 to 31 December 2018. TCL Corporate Research has granted a 
licence to the Company to use certain premises at Hong Kong Science Park.

The total licence fee paid by the Company under the Licence Agreement (Hong Kong Science Park) amounted to 
RMB222,000 during the period under review.

Further details of the Licence Agreement (Hong Kong Science Park) were set out in the announcement of the Company 
dated 1 December 2016.

(c) Pursuant to the Master Sale and Purchase (2016 Renewal) Agreement dated 24 October 2016 (as amended and 
supplemented by the Master Sale and Purchase (2016 Renewal) Supplemental Agreement dated 8 December 2016 entered 
into between the said parties, collectively the “Master S&P Agreement”) entered into between the Company and TCL 
Corporation for a two-year term commencing from 1 January 2017, the Group (i) purchased materials which are produced 
or manufactured in the PRC for its products from TCL Group amounting to RMB1,603,965,000, and (ii) sold products to TCL 
Group amounting to RMB2,640,315,000, during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The respective aggregate amount of purchase of materials from TCL Group by the Group and sales of products to TCL Group 
did not exceed 50% of the Group’s then total revenue in the year ended 31 December 2018.

Further details of the Master S&P Agreement are set out in the circular of the Company dated 8 December 2016.
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(d) Pursuant to the Import Agency (2016 Renewal) Agreement dated 24 October 2016 entered into between the Company and 
Shenzhen Qianhai Sailing Supply Chain Management Co. Ltd. (an associate of TCL Corporation, “Qianhai Sailing”, together 
with its subsidiaries “Qianhai Sailing Group”) for a two-year term commencing from 1 January 2017, the Group utilised the 
import handling services provided by Qianhai Sailing Group and paid nil to Qianhai Sailing Group as administrative fee for 
such services during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Further details of the Import Agency (2016 Renewal) Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 24 
October 2016.

(e) Pursuant to the Logistics Services (2016 Renewal) Agreement dated 24 October 2016 entered into between the Company 
and Qianhai Sailing (as amended and supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement dated 22 February 2017 entered into 
between the said parties) for a two-year term commencing from 1 January 2017, the Group utilised the logistics services 
provided by Qianhai Sailing Group and paid RMB1,007,000 to Qianhai Sailing Group as logistics fee during the year ended 31 
December 2018.

Further details of the Logistics Services (2016 Renewal) Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 
24 October 2016.

(f) Pursuant to the Master Financial Services (2017 Renewal) Agreement dated 18 August 2017 entered into among the 
Company, TCL Corporation, Finance Company and TCL Finance (Hong Kong) Co., Limited (“Finance Company (HK)”, an 
associate of TCL Corporation) with a term from 13 October 2017 to 31 December 2019, the Company may from time to 
time utilise the financial services provided by the Finance Company including deposit services and other financial services.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, (i) the maximum total outstanding daily balance of deposits (including interest 
receivables in respect of these deposits) due from the Finance Company was RMB523,302,000 and (ii) financial service 
charges of RMB5,750,000 in respect of other financial services has been paid by the Group and (iii) promotion fee of nil has 
been received by the Group pursuant to the Master Financial Services (2016 Renewal) Agreement and the Master Financial 
Services (2017 Renewal) Agreement.

Further details of the Master Financial Services (2017 Renewal) Agreement are set out in the circulars of the Company dated 
8 December 2016 and 20 September 2017 respectively.

The related party transactions set out in note 33 to the financial statements include transactions that constitute connected/
continuing connected transactions. The Directors of the Company confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure 
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (If applicable).

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have confirmed that the above-mentioned continuing connected 
transactions were entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business; (ii) in accordance with the terms 
of the respective agreements governing such transactions on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the 
shareholders of the Company as a whole; and (iii) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable to the Group 
than those available to or from independent third parties.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance 
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under 
the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their 
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by 
the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to 
the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

Mr. Zhao Jun, an executive Director, has been also a director and the general manager of Wuhan CSOT since April 2018 and May 
2018 respectively, which business may involve placing orders for LTPS LCD modules with the Group on behalf of its customers 
and then selling the finished LTPS LCD modules manufactured by the Group to its customers. While such onward sale of LTPS LCD 
modules by Wuhan CSOT competes with the business of the Group and is restricted by the Deed of Non-Competition, Wuhan 
CSOT has complied/will comply with the Non-Competition Deed before Wuhan CSOT participates in such business opportunity.

Save as aforesaid, during the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report, none of the Directors has any 
interest in business, which competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

Save for employment contracts, no contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any principal 
business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2018.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that each Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and 
profits of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties 
of his or her office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained appropriate Directors and officers 
liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.

Such permitted indemnity provisions have been in force throughout the year ended 31 December 2018 and is currently in force at 
the time of approval of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme as disclosed in the paragraph headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” 
and “SHARE AWARD SCHEME” in this Report of the Directors, no equity linked agreements that will or may result in the Company 
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares 
were entered into by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2018 or subsisted at the end of the said period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices can be found in the Corporate Governance Report contained on pages 18 to 
34 in this annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions on the same terms as set out in the Model 
Code. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the standard set 
out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions during the year ended 31 
December 2018.

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Securities Transactions Guidelines” under the Corporate Governance Report on pages 23 to 
24 for details of the non-compliance with the Model Code after the year ended 31 December 2018.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the Company, at least 
25% of the Company’s total number of issued Shares was held by the public for the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the 
date of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial reporting 
process and internal controls. The audit committee comprises three members, namely, Ms. HSU Wai Man, Helen (as the chairlady), 
Mr. XU Yan and Mr. LI Yang, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors of the Company. The Group’s results for the 
year ended 31 December 2018 have been reviewed by the audit committee, which is of the opinion that the preparation of such 
financial information complies with the applicable accounting standards, the requirements under the Listing Rules and any other 
applicable legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

LIAO QIAN
Chairman

Hong Kong
19 March 2019
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To the shareholders of China Display Optoelectronics Technology Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Display Optoelectronics Technology Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 137, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 
as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements  
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants  (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each 
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements  
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures 
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results 
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion 
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Inventory provision

The Group is principally engaged in the research and 
development, manufacture, sales and distribution of liquid 
crystal display (“LCD”) modules. The Group’s inventories are 
subjected to the significant risk of obsolescence accompanying 
with the rapid technology development of LCD modules 
industry. Significant management judgement was accordingly 
involved when determining the extent of write-down of 
inventories to net realisable value. The management is 
required to estimate the respective future selling prices and 
selling costs to determine if any provision should be made or 
should be reversed.

Details of the inventory provision are disclosed in notes 3 and 
6 to the consolidated financial statements.

We assessed the process and methods used by management 
to make provision for slow-moving or obsolete inventories. 
Our assessment included evaluating management’s inventory 
ageing profiles, selecting samples covering each ageing period 
of the ageing reports and agreeing to the original goods 
receipt notes and invoices.

We also evaluated the inventory’s net realisable value by 
comparing the forecast selling price to existing contracts 
and recent market prices. Furthermore, we considered 
the subsequent sales trend analysis and assessed the 
management’s sales plan.

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables

Trade receivable balances were significant to the Group, the 
gross amount of which amounted to RMB1,819,415,000 
and represented approximately 48% of the total assets in 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2018. Assessment of the recoverability of trade 
receivables involves a high level of management judgement. 
During the year, management used a provision matrix to 
calculate expected credit losses (“ECL”) for receivables. The 
calculation of ECL is based on the Group’s historical default 
rates and forward looking information, and specific factors that 
management considered in the estimation of ECL including 
the type of customers, ageing of the balances, recent historical 
payment patterns and forecast economic conditions.

The accounting policies and disclosures in respect of 
impairment assessment of trade receivable are included 
in notes 2.4, 3, 16 and 36 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

We evaluated the design and implementation of internal 
controls which govern credit control, debt collection and 
estimate of ECL.

We assessed the ECL provision by: (i) evaluating the 
management’s assumptions used in establishing the ECL 
provision matrix; (ii) examining the information used by 
management to form such judgements, including testing 
the accuracy of historical default data and ageing of trade 
receivables, evaluating the information related to the forecast 
economic conditions and (iii) examining the actual losses 
recorded during the current year.

We also inspected cash receipts from customers after the year 
end relating to trade receivable balances as at 31 December 
2018, on a sample basis.



CHINA DISPLAY OPTOELECTRONICS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITEDAnnual Report 2018 55

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
 

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made 
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Tjenalooi, Michael.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
19 March 2019
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Year ended 
31 December

2018

Year ended 
31 December

2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

REVENUE 5 5,280,861 3,464,573

Cost of sales (5,032,604) (3,184,754) 

Gross profit 248,257 279,819 

Other income and gains, net 5 44,515 49,340
Selling and distribution expenses (27,226) (42,147)
Administrative expenses (97,152) (115,194)
Impairment losses on financial assets (1,856) (8,033)
Other expenses (10,469) (901)
Finance costs 7 (18,100) (31,321) 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 137,969 131,563

Income tax expense 10 (36,081) (20,435) 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 101,888 111,128 

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 81,782 115,734
Non-controlling interests 20,106 (4,606) 

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE  
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12

Basic
For profit for the year RMB3.95 cents RMB5.75 cents 

Diluted
For profit for the year RMB3.95 cents RMB5.70 cents 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
Year ended 31 December 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2018

Year ended 
31 December

2018

Year ended 
31 December

2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 101,888 111,128 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss  
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of financial statements (670) 2,012 

Net other comprehensive income that may be reclassified  
to profit or loss in subsequent periods (670) 2,012 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (670) 2,012 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 101,218 113,140 

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 81,112 117,746
Non-controlling interests 20,106 (4,606) 

101,218 113,140 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 December 2018

31 December
2018

31 December
2017

Notes RMB’000  RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 13 602,543 463,204
Intangible assets 14 5,664 5,597
Deposits paid for purchase of items of property,  

plant and equipment 17 60,736 37,500
Deferred tax assets 24 17,545 15,333 

Total non-current assets 686,488 521,634 

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 15 574,606 224,666
Trade and bills receivables 16 2,145,233 1,114,507
Prepayments and other receivables 17 129,242 90,531
Derivative financial instruments 18 – 726
Cash and cash equivalents 19 277,437 507,622 

Total current assets 3,126,518 1,938,052 

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 20 2,256,864 1,127,603
Other payables and accruals 21 371,868 206,533
Derivative financial instruments 18 – 752
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 22 360,683 389,610
Tax payable 47,557 35,685 

Total current liabilities 3,036,972 1,760,183 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 89,546 177,869 

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 776,034 699,503 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other borrowings 22 24,000 24,000
Deferred income 10,357 3,410
Bonds payable 23 61,341 58,506
Deferred tax liabilities 24 – 181 

Total non-current liabilities 95,698 86,097 

Net assets 680,336 613,406 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 December 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 December 2018

31 December
2018

31 December
2017

Notes RMB’000  RMB’000

Net assets 680,336 613,406 

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 25 169,768 169,536
Reserves 28 375,333 328,766 

545,101 498,302

Non-controlling interests 29 135,235 115,104 

Total equity 680,336 613,406

Ouyang Hongping Wen Xianzhen
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2018

Attributable to owners of the parent 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium 
account

Capital 
reserve

Contributed 
surplus

Share 
option 

reserve

Awarded 
share 

reserve

Shares 
held for 

Share 
Award 

Scheme

Statutory 
surplus 
reserve

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve

(Accumulated 
losses)/
Retained 

profits

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note 25) (note 25) (note 28) (note 28) (note 27) (note 26) (note 26) (note 28)

At 1 January 2017 165,065 236,758 (77,970) – 12,604 4,879 – 43,633 (3,727) (13,114) – 368,128

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – – 115,734 (4,606) 111,128
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Exchange differences on translation of 
financial statements – – – – – – – – 2,012 – – 2,012

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – – – – 2,012 115,734 (4,606) 113,140
Appropriations to statutory surplus reserve – – – – – – – 3,004 – (3,004) – –
Repurchase shares under  

Share Award Scheme – – – – – – (4,534) – – – – (4,534)
Issue of new shares under  

Share Award Scheme 3,818 – – – – (3,818) – – – – – –
Share Award Scheme arrangements – – – – – 55,328 – – – – – 55,328
Vesting shares under the Share Award Scheme – 50,874 – – – (50,874) (12,375) – – – – (12,375)
Equity-settled share option arrangements – – – – 4,165 – – – – – – 4,165
Share options exercised 653 5,936 – – (1,760) – – – – – – 4,829
Capital contribution from  

a non-controlling shareholder – – 290 – – – – – – – 119,710 120,000
2016 final dividend declared – – – (35,275) – – – – – – – (35,275)
Transfer of share premium – (237,632) – 237,632 – – – – – – – –

            

At 31 December 2017 169,536 55,936 (77,680) 202,357 15,009 5,515 (16,909) 46,637 (1,715) 99,616 115,104 613,406

Attributable to owners of the parent 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium 
account

Capital 
reserve

Contributed 
surplus

Share 
option 

reserve

Awarded 
share 

reserve

Shares 
held for 

Share 
Award 

Scheme

Statutory 
surplus 
reserve

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve
Retained 

profits

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note 25) (note 25) (note 28) (note 28) (note 27) (note 26) (note 26) (note 28)

At 31 December 2017 169,536 55,936 (77,680) 202,357 15,009 5,515 (16,909) 46,637 (1,715) 99,616 115,104 613,406
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 (note 2.2(b)) – – – – – – – – – (1,534) – (1,534)

            

At 1 January 2018 (restated) 169,536 55,936 (77,680) 202,357 15,009 5,515 (16,909) 46,637 (1,715) 98,082 115,104 611,872

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – – 81,782 20,106 101,888
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Exchange differences on translation of 
financial statements – – – – – – – – (670) – – (670)

            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – – – – (670) 81,782 20,106 101,218
Appropriations to statutory surplus reserve – – – – – – – 1,309 – (1,309) – –
Repurchase shares under  

Share Award Scheme – – – – – – (1,518) – – – – (1,518)
Share Award Scheme arrangements – – – – – 517 – – – – 25 542
Vesting shares under the Share Award Scheme – (80) – – – (5,972) 6,052 – – – – –
Equity-settled share option arrangements – – – – 950 – – – – – – 950
Share options exercised 232 2,144 – – (658) – – – – – – 1,718
2017 final dividend declared – – – (34,446) – – – – – – – (34,446)

            

At 31 December 2018 169,768 58,000* (77,680)* 167,911* 15,301* 60* (12,375)* 47,946* (2,385)* 178,555* 135,235 680,336

* These reserve accounts comprise the positive reserves of RMB375,333,000 (2017: RMB328,766,000) in the consolidated statement 
of financial position.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2018

Year ended 
31 December

2018

Year ended 
31 December

2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 137,969 131,563
Adjustments for:

Finance costs 7 18,100 31,321
Bank interest income 5 (5,738) (4,195)
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 6 5,288 335
Depreciation 6 72,013 48,054
Amortisation of intangible assets 6 1,301 458
Impairment of trade and bills receivables 6 1,856 8,033
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 6 5,206 19
Equity-settled share option expense 6 950 4,165
Equity-settled share award expense 6 542 55,328
Fair value (gain)/loss, net:
Exchange losses, net 6 2,727 3,642 

240,214 278,723
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (355,146) 142,401
Increase in trade and bills receivables (1,034,627) (132,088)
Increase in prepayments (38,711) (46,187)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 1,129,261 (192,334)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals 117,450 (2,098)
Increase/(decrease) in derivative financial instruments (26) 26
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income 6,947 (2,330) 

Cash generated from operations 65,362 46,113
Mainland China taxes paid (26,427) (33,705) 

Net cash flows from operating activities 38,935 12,408 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 5,738 4,195
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (195,626) (312,533)
Purchases of items of intangible assets (1,368) (5,988)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 736 – 

Net cash flows used in investing activities (190,520) (314,326) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares upon exercise of share options 25 1,718 4,829
Purchase of shares for Share Award Scheme (1,518) (4,534)
New bank loans and other borrowings 515,588 751,137
Repayment of bank loans (544,514) (457,527)
Interest paid (15,203) (27,428)
Dividends paid (34,446) (35,275)
Contribution from a non-controlling shareholder – 120,000 

Net cash flows from financing activities (78,375) 351,202 

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (229,960) 49,284
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 19 507,622 464,889
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (226) (6,551) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 19 277,437 507,622 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2018
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Display Optoelectronics Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted 
company with limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Clarendon 
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at 8/F, Building 
22E, Phase 3, Hong Kong Science Park, Pak Shek Kok, New Territories, Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were 
principally involved in the manufacture and sale of LCD modules for mobile phones and tablets.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company are High 
Value Ventures Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and TCL Corporation, a limited 
liability company registered in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, 
respectively.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and 
business

Issued 
ordinary share 

capital
Registered 

share capital

Percentage of 
equity attributable 

to the Company
Principal activitiesDirect Indirect

China Display Optoelectronics  
Technology (Huizhou) Co., Ltd.  
(“CDOT Huizhou”)*

PRC/Mainland China RMB231,900,000 RMB231,900,000 – 100 Manufacture and sale of 
LCD modules for mobile 
phones and tablets

Wuhan China Display Optoelectronics 
Technology Co., Ltd.  
(“Wuhan CDOT“)*

PRC/Mainland China RMB400,000,000 RMB500,000,000 – 70 Manufacture and sale of 
LCD modules for mobile 
phones and tablets

China Display Software Development 
Services (Xi’an) Co., Ltd.*^

PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 RMB20,000,000 – 100 Development and sale of 
software and technical 
consultancy services

Taijia Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 HK$10,000 – 100 Investment holding,  
merchandising and sales

TCL Display Technology  
(Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 HK$1 – 100 Investment holding,  
merchandising and sales

TCL Intelligent Display  
Electronics Limited

Bermuda HK$1 HK$1 100 – Investment holding 

TCL Display Technology  
(BVI) Limited

British Virgin Islands US$1 US$1 – 100 Investment holding

Taixing Investment Limited Bermuda HK$10,000 HK$10,000 100 – Investment holding

* These entities are registered as limited liability companies under PRC law.

^ This entity is registered as a wholly-owned subsidiary of CDOT Huizhou.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for derivative financial 
instruments which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), 
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee 
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same year as the Company, using consistent accounting 
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be 
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group 
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group 
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are 
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one 
or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss 
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, 
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests and (iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and 
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting 
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had 
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised standards for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance 

Contracts
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 4, Amendments to HKAS 40 and Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle , which are 
not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s financial statements, the nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRS 
are described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-
settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based payment transaction with net settlement 
features for withholding a certain amount in order to meet an employee’s tax obligation associated with the share-
based payment; and accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction 
changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that the approach used to 
account for vesting conditions when measuring equity-settled share-based payments also applies to cash-settled share-
based payments. The amendments introduce an exception so that a share-based payment transaction with net share 
settlement features for withholding a certain amount in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation is classified in 
its entirety as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction when certain conditions are met. Furthermore, the 
amendments clarify that if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction are modified, 
with the result that it becomes an equity-settled share-based payment transaction, the transaction is accounted for as 
an equity-settled transaction from the date of the modification. The amendments have had no impact on the financial 
position or performance of the Group as the Group does not have any cash-settled share-based payment transactions 
and has no share-based payment transactions with net settlement features for withholding tax.

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments  replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement  for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together two aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: 
classification and measurement, and impairment.

The Group has recognised the transition adjustments against the applicable opening balances in equity at 1 January 
2018. Therefore, the comparative information was not restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 39.

Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impacts of adopting HKFRS 9 on the statement of financial position, including the 
effect of replacing HKAS 39’s incurred credit loss calculations with HKFRS 9’s expected credit losses (“ECLs”).
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under HKAS 39 and the balances reported under HKFRS 9 as at 1 
January 2018 is as follows:

HKAS 39 

measurement

HKFRS 9 

measurement

Category Amount

Re-

classification ECL Other Amount Category

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets

Trade and bills receivables (i) L&R1 1,114,507 – (2,045) – 1,112,462 AC2

Financial assets included in prepayments,  

other receivables L&R 88,199 – – – 88,199 AC

Cash and cash equivalents L&R 507,622 – – – 507,622 AC

Derivative financial instruments FVPL3 726 – – – 726 FVPL

1,711,054 – (2,045) – 1,709,009

Other assets

Deferred tax assets 15,333 – 511 – 15,844

Total assets 2,459,686 – (1,534) – 2,458,152

Financial liabilities

Trade and bills payables AC 1,127,603 – – – 1,127,603 AC

Financial liabilities included in other  

payables and accruals AC 127,118 – – – 127,118 AC

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AC 389,610 – – – 389,610 AC

Other borrowings AC 24,000 – – – 24,000 AC

Bonds payable AC 58,506 – – – 58,506 AC

Derivative financial instruments FVPL 752 – – – 752 FVPL

1,727,589 – – – 1,727,589

Other liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 181 – – – 181

Total liabilities 1,846,280 – – – 1,846,280

1 L&R: Loans and receivables

2 AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised cost

3 FVPL: Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The gross carrying amounts of the trade and bills receivables under the column “HKAS 39 measurement – Amount” 
represent the amounts after adjustments for the adoption of HKFRS 15 but before the measurement of ECLs. Further 
details of the adjustments for the adoption of HKFRS 15 are included in note 2.2(c) to the financial statements.

Impairment

The following table reconciles the aggregate opening impairment allowances under HKAS 39 to the ECL allowances 
under HKFRS 9. Further details are disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements.

Impairment 
allowances 

under HKAS 39 
at 31 December 

2017
Re-

measurement

ECL allowances 
under HKFRS 9 

at 1 January 
2018

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade and bills receivables 8,033 2,045 10,078

Impact on reserves and retained profits

The impact of transition to HKFRS 9 on retained profits is as follows:

Retained
profits

RMB’000

Balance as at 31 December 2017 under HKAS 39 99,616
Recognition of expected credit losses for trade and bills receivables under HKFRS 9 (2,045)
Deferred tax in relation to the above 511

Balance as at 1 January 2018 under HKFRS 9 98,082
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(c) HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11 Construction Contracts , HKAS 18 Revenue  and related interpretations 
and it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15, establishes 
a new five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is 
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for 
measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure 
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance obligations, changes in contract 
asset and liability account balances between periods and key judgements and estimates. The disclosures are included in 
note 3 and note 5 to the financial statements. As a result of the application of HKFRS 15, the Group has changed the 
accounting policy with respect to revenue recognition in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified retrospective method of adoption. Under this method, the 
standard can be applied either to all contracts at the date of initial application or only to contracts that are not 
completed at this date. The Group has elected to apply the standard to contracts that are not completed as at 1 January 
2018.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of HKFRS 15 was recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance 
of retained profits as at 1 January 2018. Therefore, the comparative information was not restated and continues to be 
reported under HKAS 11, HKAS 18 and related interpretations.

The nature of the adjustments as at 1 January 2018 and the reasons for the significant changes in the statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2018 and the statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018 
are described below:
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(c) (Continued)

(i) Sale of goods

The Group mainly engages in the business of the sale of LCD modules. The Group’s contracts with customers for 
the sale of goods generally include one performance obligation. The Group has concluded that revenue from the 
sale of goods should be recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, 
generally on the delivery of the goods. Therefore, the adoption of HKFRS 15 has not have an impact on the timing 
of revenue recognition.

(ii) Consideration received from customers in advance

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group recognised consideration received from customers in advance 
as other payables. Under HKFRS 15, the amount is classified as contract liabilities which are included in other 
payables and accruals.

Therefore, upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group reclassified RMB8,157,000 from other payables to contract 
liabilities as at 1 January 2018 in relation to the consideration received from customers in advance as at 1 January 
2018.

As at 31 December 2018, under HKFRS 15, RMB62,548,000 was reclassified from other payables to contract 
liabilities in relation to the consideration received from customers in advance for the sale of products.

(d) HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 provides guidance on how to determine the date of the transaction when applying HKAS 21 to the 
situation where an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign currency and recognises a non-monetary 
asset or liability. The interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange 
rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) is the date on which an 
entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as deferred 
income) arising from the payment or receipt of the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts 
in advance of recognising the related item, the entity must determine the transaction date for each payment or receipt 
of the advance consideration. The interpretation has had no impact on the Group’s financial statements as the Group’s 
accounting policy for the determination of the exchange rate applied for initial recognition of non-monetary assets or 
non-monetary liabilities is consistent with the guidance provided in the interpretation.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these 
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business2

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation1

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  
HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture4

HKFRS 16 Leases1

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts3

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material2

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement1

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments1

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 231

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 No mandatory effective date determined but available for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify 
that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a 
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist without including 
all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether market 
participants are capable of acquiring the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired 
inputs and acquired substantive processes together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments 
have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment income 
or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an acquired 
process is substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of whether 
an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 
January 2020.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in 
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The 
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or 
loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s 
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective 
date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory 
effective date will be determined after the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures. 
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases , HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease , HK(SIC)-Int 
15 Operating Leases – Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of 
a Lease . The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and 
requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two elective recognition exemptions 
for lessees – leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise 
a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset 
during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property in HKAS 
40, or relates to a class of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is 
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be 
required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use 
asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change 
in the lease term and change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those 
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the 
right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors 
will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating 
leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. 
Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group 
will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019.

The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2019 and will not restate the comparatives. In addition, 
the Group plans to apply the new requirements to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and 
measure the lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental 
borrowing rate at the date of initial application. The right-of-use asset will be measured at the amount of the lease liability, 
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the statement of 
financial position immediately before the date of initial application. During 2018, the Group has performed a detailed 
assessment on the impact of adoption of HKFRS 16. The Group has estimated that right-of-use assets of RMB9,773,000 and 
lease liabilities of RMB9,773,000 will be recognised at 1 January 2019.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of material. The new definition states that information is 
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of 
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments clarify that materiality 
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be 
expected to influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 
1 January 2020. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion of HKFRS 9 only includes interests in an associate or joint venture 
to which the equity method is applied and does not include long-term interests that in substance form part of the net 
investment in the associate or joint venture, to which the equity method has not been applied. Therefore, an entity applies 
HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including the impairment requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting for such long-term 
interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to the net investment, which includes the long-term interests, only in the context of 
recognising losses of an associate or joint venture and impairment of the net investment in the associate or joint venture. The 
Group expects to adopt the amendments on 1 January 2019 and will assess its business model for such long-term interests 
based on the facts and circumstances that exist on 1 January 2019 using the transitional requirements in the amendments. 
The Group also intends to apply the relief from restating comparative information for prior periods upon adoption of the 
amendments.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty 
that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation does not apply to 
taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties 
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax 
treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; 
(iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and 
(iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully 
retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to 
the opening equity at the date of initial application, without the restatement of comparative information. The Group expects 
to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact on the 
Group’s financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted by the Group in arriving at these financial statements set out in this report are set 
out below:

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, 
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible 
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in 
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair 
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, 
deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets 
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the 
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the 
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each year as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A 
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, however not to an amount higher than the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in 
which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the 
other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity related 
to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services to the 
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where 
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of that asset 
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group 
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its 
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Plant and machinery 14%-33%
Office and other equipment 14%-33%
Leasehold improvements 20%-33%
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a 
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation 
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal 
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the period the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and machinery under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment 
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction for the period of construction. Construction in 
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets 
are assessed to be finite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the 
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Computer software

The purchased computer software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over 
its estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years.

Operating leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for 
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating leases are included in non-
current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives 
received from the lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics 
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade and bills receivables that do not contain a 
significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a 
significant financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial 
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade and bills receivables that do not contain a significant 
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price 
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 
2018)” below.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount 
outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate 
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the 
financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows.

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject to 
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or 
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon 
initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. 
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near 
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated 
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are 
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria 
for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, as described 
above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or 
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net 
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative financial instruments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value 
through other comprehensive income.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and receivables and derivative financial instruments. When 
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets recognised at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value 
through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near 
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated 
as effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive 
net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and negative net changes in fair value presented as finance 
costs in the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on these 
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 
January 2018)” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial 
recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic 
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not held for trading or 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the 
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out 
of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income 
and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in 
finance costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.
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Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are 
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that 
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows 
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 
12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective 
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly 
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, including 
historical and forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. 
At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt investments are considered to have low credit risk using 
all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the 
Group reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the Group considers that there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, 
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group 
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by 
the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to 
impairment under the general approach and they are classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except 
for trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition and for which 
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition but that are not 
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs

Stage 3 – Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies the practical expedient 
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. 
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based 
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each year whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 
have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant 
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or 
other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment 
exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial 
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment 
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present 
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount 
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and 
receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and 
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by 
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement of profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 
1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and other borrowings, financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, other payables, derivative financial instruments, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and bonds payable.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (policies under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss represent financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair 
value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of 
recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair value through profit 
or loss are recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk 
which are presented in other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to the statement of profit or loss. 
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these 
financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (policies under IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss represent financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair 
value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial 
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. 
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement 
of profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39 
applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39 
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, and 
only if, there is currently an enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39 
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts, to hedge its foreign currency risk and 
interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the 
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, 
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion 
of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion 
and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand 
deposits which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on 
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at 
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of each 
year of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value 
amount arising from the passage of time is included in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of certain products for general repairs of defects occurring during 
the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties granted by the Group are recognised based on past 
experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised 
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each year, taking 
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of each year between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; 
and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any 
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each year and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each year and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of each year.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future 
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and 
all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the 
periods as necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate are expensed.

Where the grant relates to a non-monetary asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to 
the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted 
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation 
charge.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred. Expenditure incurred on projects to develop 
new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the 
intangible asset so that the asset will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the 
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the 
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure which does not meet 
these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an 
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the 
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration is 
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of 
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently 
resolved.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the transfer 
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount 
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group 
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing component which provides the Group a 
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest expense 
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the payment 
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted 
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Sale of products

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, 
generally on delivery of the LCD module products.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when 
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January 2018)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be 
measured reliably on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, 
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor 
effective control over the goods sold; and

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts the 
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset.
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Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 January 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received a 
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before 
the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the 
payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the 
contract.

Contract costs (applicable from 1 January 2018)

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred 
to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) 
performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is 
consistent with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset related is recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as 
incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates the Share Award Scheme and the Share Option Scheme (as defined in note 26 and note 27 to the 
financial statements, respectively) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute 
to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form 
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled 
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at 
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in 
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised 
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each year until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period 
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit 
to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the 
beginning and end of that period.
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Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date fair value of 
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of 
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any 
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting 
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award 
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no 
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting 
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service 
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not 
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that 
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date 
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not 
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the 
control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and 
is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were 
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

As disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements, the Group has engaged a trustee to administer the Share Award Scheme, 
where the trustee may purchase shares issued by the Company from the market as awards to the relevant participants. The 
consideration paid by the Company, including any directly attributable incremental costs, is presented as “shares held for the 
Share Award Scheme” and deducted from the Group’s equity.



90 CHINA DISPLAY OPTOELECTRONICS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under 
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on 
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries in accordance with the statutory limits prescribed by the Mandatory Provident 
Fund Schemes Ordinance and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the 
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently 
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF 
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates in Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension 
scheme operated by the local municipal government. This subsidiary is required to contribute a certain percentage of its 
payroll costs to the central pension scheme at the applicable rates based on the amounts stipulated by the local government 
organisations. The contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the 
rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost 
of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended 
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period 
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the 
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of 
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised 
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018
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Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is HKD, these financial statements are presented in RMB. The turnover of the Group 
is entirely contributed by the business in Mainland China and the presentation currency of RMB could provide uses of the 
financial statement with more comparable information with other companies in similar industries. Each entity in the Group 
determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using 
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their 
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the year. Differences arising 
on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary 
item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., 
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss 
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on 
which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. 
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt 
of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain entities in the Group are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the year, the 
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the year and 
their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting 
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. 
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign 
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB 
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which 
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart from 
those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in these financial statements:
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Tax

Determining income tax provisions requires the Group to make judgements on the future tax treatment of certain 
transactions. The Group evaluates tax implications of transactions in accordance with prevailing tax regulations and makes tax 
provisions accordingly.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. This requires significant judgement on the tax treatments of certain 
transactions and also assessment on the probability that adequate future taxable profits will be available for the deferred tax 
assets to be recovered.

The New PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, which became effective on 1 January 2008, states that the distribution of dividends 
by a foreign-invested enterprise established in Mainland China to its foreign investors in respect of its earnings, from 1 
January 2008 or thereafter, shall be subject to withholding corporate income tax at an applicable rate of 5% or 10%. The 
Group evaluates the necessity of dividend distribution of its subsidiaries established in Mainland China out of profits earned 
after 1 January 2008 and makes decisions on such dividend distributions based on senior management’s judgement. As at 
31 December 2018, the aggregate unremitted earnings of RMB223,601,000 (31 December 2017: RMB161,124,000) of the 
Group’s subsidiary established in Mainland China that are subject to withholding taxes were considered to be not probable to 
distribute in the foreseeable future and accordingly, the related deferred tax liabilities of RMB11,180,000 as at 31 December 
2018 (31 December 2017: RMB8,056,000) were not recognised. For details, please refer to note 24 to the financial 
statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables 

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for 
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and 
rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to 
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., 
gross domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in 
the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates 
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a 
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The 
Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s 
actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 16 to the 
financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment

In determining the useful life and residual value of an item of property, plant and equipment, the Group has to consider 
various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or improvements in production, or 
from a change in the market demand for the product or service output of the asset, the expected usage of the asset, the 
expected physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. 
The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based on the experience of the Group with similar assets that are used in a 
similar way. Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/or the residual values of items of property, plant 
and equipment are different from the previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year 
end based on changes in circumstances. The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2018 and 
31 December 2017 were RMB602,543,000 and RMB463,204,000, respectively. Further details are given in note 13 to the 
financial statements.

Provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventories

The Group reviews the condition of its inventories and makes a provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventory items 
which are identified as no longer suitable for sale or use. Management estimates the net realisable value for such inventories 
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review at the 
end of each year and makes a provision against obsolete and slow-moving items. Management reassesses the estimation 
at the end of each year. The provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventories requires the use of judgements and 
estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will have an impact on the carrying 
value of inventories and the write-down of inventories/write-back of inventory provision amount in the periods in which such 
estimates have been changed. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the amount of the write-down of the inventories 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss was RMB5,206,000 (2017: RMB19,000).

Provisions for product warranties

The Group generally accrue provisions on certain of its products, under which faulty products are returned for repair or 
replacement. The amount of provisions is estimated based on the sales volume and past experience of the level of the raw 
material costs incurred for the repair and return. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where 
appropriate. As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the carrying amounts of the provisions were RMB850,000 
and RMB1,521,000, respectively.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group operates in one business unit based on its products, and has one reportable operating 
segment being the display products segment which principally engages in the manufacture and sale of LCD module products.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segment.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Mainland China* 4,179,043 2,178,586
Other countries/areas 1,101,818 1,285,987 

5,280,861 3,464,573 

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.

* Mainland China means any part of the PRC excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

(b) Non-current assets

All significant operating assets of the Group are located in Mainland China. Accordingly, no geographical information of 
segment assets is presented.

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately RMB2,580,597,000 during the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB533,206,000) was 
derived from sales to fellow subsidiaries.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from contracts with customers
Sale of goods 5,280,861 3,464,573 

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Segments LCD modules
RMB’000

Type of goods
Sale of goods 5,280,861 

Geographical markets
Mainland China 4,179,043
Hong Kong 737,309
South Korea 357,524
Taiwan 4,783
Turkey 2,202 

Total revenue from contracts with customers 5,280,861 

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time 5,280,861

(ii) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligation is summarised below:

Sales of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the LCD modules products and the payment is generally due 
within 30 to 90 days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally required.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Other income, net
Bank interest income 5,738 4,195
Subsidy income* 7,749 39,817
Gain on disposal of raw materials, samples and scraps 21,337 4,504
Others 1,647 850 

36,471 49,366 

Gains/(losses), net
Fair value gains/(losses), net:

Derivative financial instruments –  
transactions not qualifying as hedges 8,044 (26) 

44,515 49,340 

* Subsidy income represents various government grants received from the relevant government authorities to support the 
development of the relevant project of the Group in Mainland China. In the opinion of management, there are no unfulfilled 
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of inventories sold* 5,032,604 3,184,754
Depreciation 13 72,013 48,054
Amortisation of intangible assets 14 1,301 458
Auditor’s remuneration 1,168 1,150
Research and development costŝ :

Current year expenditures 34,792 34,545
Minimum lease payments under operating leases 12,702 8,378

Employee benefit expense  
(including directors’ remuneration (note 8) ):
Wages and salaries 244,453 204,951
Equity-settled share option expense 27 950 4,165
Equity-settled share award expense 26 542 55,328
Pension scheme contributions** 45,762 23,800 

291,707 288,244 

Exchange losses, net 2,727 3,642
Impairment of trade and bills receivables 16 1,856 8,033
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value*** 5,206 19
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 5,288 335 

^ Research and development costs are included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

* Amount included wages and salaries, depreciation, amortization, inventory provision and lease payments of RMB321,408,000 
(2017: RMB204,112,000) in aggregate which have been included in the respective expense items disclosed below.

** As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes 
in future years (2017: Nil).

*** Write-down of inventories to net realisable value are included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on bank loans and bonds 11,667 16,125
Interest on discounted bills 6,433 15,196 

18,100 31,321 

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration during the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) 
Regulation, is as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees 456 468 

Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,989 1,346
Equity-settled share option expense 435 1,495
Equity-settled share award expense – 13,415
Pension scheme contributions 111 98 

2,535 16,354 

2,991 16,822 
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

Certain directors were granted share options (the “Share Options”) and awarded shares (the “Awarded Shares”) of the 
Company, in respect of their services to the Group, under the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme of the 
Company, further details of which are set out in note 27 and note 26 to the financial statements, respectively. The fair values 
of such Share Options and Awarded Shares, which have been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting 
period, were determined as at the date of grant and the amounts included in the financial statements for the current year are 
included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

Fees

Equity-settled 
share option 

expense
Total 

remuneration
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2018

Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen 152 3 155
Mr. XU Yan 152 3 155
Mr. LI Yang 152 3 155   

456 9 465   

Fees

Equity-settled 
share option 

expense
Total 

remuneration
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2017

Ms. HSU Wai Man Helen 156 11 167
Mr. XU Yan 156 11 167
Mr. LI Yang 156 11 167

468 33 501

All the independent non-executive directors were appointed with effect from 25 June 2015.

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year (2017: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Pension 
scheme 

contributions

Equity-settled 
share option 

expense

Equity-settled 
share award 

expense
Total 

remuneration
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2018

Executive directors:
Mr. LI Jian* – 613 37 147 – 797
Mr. OUYANG Hongping – 791 37 116 – 944
Mr. WEN Xianzhen** – 585 37 – – 622
Ms. YANG Yunfang** – – – 89 – 89
Mr. ZHAO Yong* – – – 74 – 74      

– 1,989 111 426 – 2,526

Non-executive director:
Mr. LIAO Qian – – – – – –      

– 1,989 111 426 – 2,526      

* Mr. LI Jian was the chief executive officer of the Company during 2018. Mr. LI Jian resigned as the chief executive officer 
and an executive director of the Company, and Mr. OUYANG Hongping was re-designated as the chief executive officer 
of the Company with effect from 7 March 2019. Mr. ZHAO Yong also resigned as an executive director with effect from 7 
March 2019.

** Ms. YANG Yunfang resigned as an executive director of the Company and Mr. WEN Xianzhen was appointed as an 
executive director of the Company with effect from 23 March 2018.
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director (Continued)

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Pension 
scheme 

contributions

Equity-settled 
share option 

expense

Equity-settled 
share award 

expense
Total 

remuneration
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2017

Executive directors:
Mr. LI Jian – 523 34 505 5,644 6,706
Mr. OUYANG Hongping – 482 33 398 4,394 5,307
Ms. YANG Yunfang – 341 31 307 3,377 4,056
Mr. ZHAO Yong – – – 252 – 252      

– 1,346 98 1,462 13,415 16,321

Non-executive director:
Mr. LIAO Qian – – – – – –      

– 1,346 98 1,462 13,415 16,321      

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

During the year, three (2017: three) directors including the chief executive were counted in the five highest paid employees, 
details of whose remuneration during their appointment as a director of the Company are set out in note 8 above. Details of 
the remuneration during the year of the remaining two (2017: two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor 
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 977 702
Equity-settled share option expense 89 358
Equity-settled share award expense – 5,226
Pension scheme contributions 52 65 

1,118 6,351 

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following 
bands is as follows:

Number of employees
2018 2017

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 –
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 – 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 – 1 

2 2 

Share Options and Awarded Shares were granted to two (2017: two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor 
chief executive in respect of their services to the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures in note 27 
and note 26 to the financial statements, respectively. The fair values of Share Options and Awarded Shares, which have been 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, were determined as at the date of grant 
and the amounts included in the financial statements for the current year are included in the above non-director and non-
chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.
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10. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in 
Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the 
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Current
Charge for the year 41,036 30,249
Adjustment in respect of current tax of previous periods (3,073) (12,226)

Deferred (note 24) (1,882) 2,412 

Total tax charge for the year 36,081 20,435 

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which 
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates is as follows:

2018

Mainland China Hong Kong
British Virgin Islands 

and Bermuda Total
RMB’000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

Profit/(loss) before tax 100,652 44,183 (6,866) 137,969        

Tax at the statutory tax rate 25,163 25 7,290 16.5 – – 32,453 23.5
Income not subject to tax – – (1,217) (2.7) – – (1,217) (0.9)
Expenses not deductible for tax and others 9,342 9.3 7 – – – 9,349 6.8
Adjustment in respect of current tax of  

previous periods (3,016) (3.0) (57) (0.1) – – (3,073) (2.2)
Deductible temporary differences not recognised – – 16 – – – 16 –
Tax losses utilised from previous period (3,788) (3.8) – – – – (3,788) (2.7)
Tax loss not recognised 1,921 1.9 420 0.9 – – 2,341 1.7        

Tax charge at the effective rate 29,622 29.4 6,459 14.6 – – 36,081 26.2        
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

2017

Mainland China Hong Kong
British Virgin Islands 

and Bermuda Total
RMB’000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

Profit/(loss) before tax 13,413 128,612 (10,462) 131,563

Tax at the statutory tax rate 3,353 25.0 21,221 16.5 – – 24,574 18.7
Income not subject to tax – – (190) (0.2) – – (190) (0.2)
Expenses not deductible for tax and others 4,286 32.0 32 0.1 – – 4,318 3.3
Adjustment in respect of current tax of  

previous periods (12,468) (93.0) 242 0.2 – – (12,226) (9.3)
Deductible temporary differences not recognised – – 16 – – – 16 –
Tax loss not recognised 3,552 26.5 391 0.3 – – 3,943 3.0

Tax charge/(credit) at the effective rate (1,277) (9.5) 21,712 16.9 – – 20,435 15.5

On 24 May 2018, CDOT Huizhou was approved to enjoy a tax preference of super-deduction of its research and 
development expenditure incurred in 2017. As a result, a downward adjustment with the total amount of RMB3,016,000 for 
income tax provision for the year ended 31 December 2017 was made in the current year.

The Group has tax losses of RMB4,910,000 arising in Hong Kong (Year ended 31 December 2017: RMB2,366,000) that are 
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group has 
tax losses arising in Mainland China of RMB7,683,000 (Year ended 31 December 2017: RMB14,209,000) that will expire in 
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these 
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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11. DIVIDENDS

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Dividends recognised as distribution 34,446 35,275
Proposed 2017 final dividend – 2.00 HK cents per ordinary share – 34,491 

34,446 69,766 

The Board does not recommend to declare any final dividends for the year ended 31 December 2018.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount for the year ended 31 December 2018 is based on the profit for the 
year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of RMB81,782,000 (2017: RMB115,734,000), and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares in issue less shares held for Share Award Scheme during the year of 2,070,804,618 
(2017: 2,011,524,418).

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount for the year ended 31 December 2018 is based on the profit for 
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of RMB81,782,000 (2017: RMB115,734,000) as used in the 
basic earnings per share calculation. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the ordinary 
shares in issue during the year of 2,070,804,618 (2017: 2,011,524,418), as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, 
and the weighted average of 169,907 (2017: 2,192,659) ordinary shares under Share Award Scheme and nil ordinary shares 
under Share Option Scheme (2017: 18,128,633) assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise 
of dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. The share options had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings 
per share for the year ended 31 December 2018 and were ignored in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Earnings
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,  

used in the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations 81,782 115,734 

Number of shares
2018 2017

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue less  

shares held for Share Award Scheme during the year used  
in the basic earnings per share calculation 2,070,804,618 2,011,524,418

Effect of dilution – weighted average number of ordinary shares:
Awarded shares 169,907 2,192,659
Share options – 18,128,633 

2,070,974,525 2,031,845,710 
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and 
machinery

Office and 
other 

equipment
Leasehold 

improvements
Construction 

in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2018

At 31 December 2017:
Cost 399,873 25,210 58,220 178,029 661,332
Accumulated depreciation (151,981) (12,018) (34,129) – (198,128)     

Net carrying amount 247,892 13,192 24,091 178,029 463,204     

At 1 January 2018, net of accumulated depreciation 247,892 13,192 24,091 178,029 463,204
Additions 111,474 18,813 12,878 74,211 217,376
Disposals (5,187) (67) (770) – (6,024)
Depreciation provided during the year (54,711) (5,764) (11,538) – (72,013)
Transfers 229,420 13,559 (1,498) (241,481) –     

At 31 December 2018  
net of accumulated depreciation 528,888 39,733 23,163 10,759 602,543     

At 31 December 2018:
Cost 693,466 56,185 68,925 10,759 829,335
Accumulated depreciation (164,578) (16,452) (45,762) – (226,792)     

Net carrying amount 528,888 39,733 23,163 10,759 602,543     

31 December 2017

At 31 December 2016:
Cost 275,373 5,653 60,803 1,817 343,646
Accumulated depreciation (117,457) (3,629) (29,279) – (150,365)     

Net carrying amount 157,916 2,024 31,524 1,817 193,281     

At 1 January 2017, net of accumulated depreciation 157,916 2,024 31,524 1,817 193,281
Additions 27,713 11,113 2,681 282,383 323,890
Disposals (28) (18) (289) – (335)
Depreciation provided during the year (34,747) (2,520) (10,787) – (48,054)
Transfers 97,038 2,593 962 (106,171) (5,578)     

At 31 December 2017,  
net of accumulated depreciation 247,892 13,192 24,091 178,029 463,204     

At 31 December 2017:
Cost 399,873 25,210 58,220 178,029 661,332
Accumulated depreciation (151,981) (12,018) (34,129) – (198,128)     

Net carrying amount 247,892 13,192 24,091 178,029 463,204     
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer 
software
RMB’000

31 December 2018

Cost at 1 January 2018, net of accumulated amortisation 5,597
Additions 1,368
Amortisation provided during the year (1,301) 

At 31 December 2018 5,664 

At 31 December 2018:
Cost 8,558
Accumulated amortisation (2,894) 

Net carrying amount 5,664 

31 December 2017

Cost at 1 January 2017, net of accumulated amortisation 67
Additions 410
Transfers from construction in progress 5,578
Amortisation provided during the year (458)

At 31 December 2017 5,597

At 31 December 2017:
Cost 7,190
Accumulated amortisation (1,593)

Net carrying amount 5,597

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018
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15. INVENTORIES

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 329,779 157,569
Work in progress 63,540 27,770
Finished goods 181,287 39,327 

574,606 224,666 

16. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 1,819,415 793,264
Bills receivable 337,752 329,276
Impairment (11,934) (8,033) 

2,145,233 1,114,507 

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for certain customers, where payment in advance is 
normally required. The credit period is generally 30 to 90 days, depending on the size and credibility of the customers. Each 
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue 
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements 
over its trade and bills receivables balances. Trade and bills receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade and bills receivables are amounts due from the Group’s fellow subsidiaries of RMB760,658,000 
(2017: RMB57,768,000), which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the year, based on the invoice date and net of loss 
allowance, is as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 month 965,618 276,174
1 to 2 months 819,391 481,594
2 to 3 months 152,122 235,240
Over 3 months 208,102 121,499 

2,145,233 1,114,507 
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16. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables is as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

At beginning of year (8,033) –
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 (2,045) – 

At beginning of year (restated) (10,078) –
Impairment losses (1,856) (8,033) 

At end of year (11,934) (8,033) 

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 December 2018

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. 
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The 
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information 
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 
Generally, trade and bills receivables are written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement 
activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2018

Less than 
6 months

Over 
6 months Total

Expected credit loss rate 0.21% 98.42% 0.66%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 1,811,237 8,178 1,819,415
Expected credit losses (RMB’000) 3,886 8,048 11,934   

The Group’s bills receivable have been accepted by notable banks with high credit ratings. As at 31 December 2018, the 
probability of default and the loss given default were estimated to be minimal.

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31 December 2017

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade and bills receivables, which was measured based on incurred credit 
losses under HKAS 39, as at 31 December 2017 was a provision for individually impaired trade and bills receivables of 
RMB8,033,000, with a carrying amount before provision of RMB80,333,000.

The individually impaired trade and bills receivables as at 31 December 2017 related to customers that were in financial 
difficulties or were in default in principal payments and only a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.
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16. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31 December 2017 (Continued)

The ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at 31 December 2017 that were not individually nor collectively 
considered to be impaired under HKAS 39 is as follows:

2017
RMB’000

Neither past due nor impaired 1,003,121
Less than 1 month past due 39,064
1 to 3 months past due 22

1,042,207

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a large number of diversified customers for whom there was 
no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number of independent customers that had a good track record 
with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company were of the opinion that no provision for impairment 
under HKAS 39 was necessary in respect of these balances as there had not been a significant change in credit quality and 
the balances were still considered fully recoverable.

During the year, the Group had pledged certain trade receivables amounting to RMB48,040,000 (2017: RMB279,273,000) 
to banks with recourse in exchange for cash (note 37) . The proceeds from pledging the trade receivables of RMB35,000,000 
(2017: RMB231,876,000) were accounted for as collateralised bank advances until the trade receivables were collected or 
the Group made good on any losses incurred by the banks (note 22) .
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17. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current:
Deposits and other receivables 60,736 37,500 

Current:
Prepayments 18,862 2,332
Deposits and other receivables 110,380 88,199 

129,242 90,531 

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. Deposits and other receivables mainly represent deposits paid for 
purchase of items of property and equipment, deposit paid for value added tax and deposit with suppliers. The expected 
credit losses are estimated with reference to the historical loss record of the Group. As at 31 December 2018, the probability 
of default and the loss given default of deposits and other receivables were estimated to be minimal.

18. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Forward currency contracts – – 726 752    

The Group has entered into various forward currency contracts to manage its exchange rate exposure. These forward currency 
contracts are not designated for hedge purposes and are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The net gains, including 
the realised and unrealised, on changes in the fair value of the forward currency contracts amounting to RMB8,044,000 
(2017: net loss RMB26,000) was recognised in the consolidated financial statement of profit or loss during the year.

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and bank balances denominated in
– RMB 131,946 188,168
– HK$ 2,817 5,803
– United States dollars (“US$”) 142,674 313,651 

Cash and cash equivalents 277,437 507,622 
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19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control 
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to 
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with 
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 December 2018, included in the Group’s cash and bank balances were deposits of RMB221,392,899 (31 
December 2017: RMB478,199,989), placed with TCL Finance Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary of the Company and a financial 
institution approved by the People’s Bank of China. The interest rate for the deposits placed with TCL Finance Co., Ltd. was 
0.42% (2017: 0.42%) per annum, being the savings rate offered by the People’s Bank of China during the year. Further 
details of the interest income from the deposits in the related parties are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

20. TRADE PAYABLES

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 2,256,864 1,127,603 

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the year, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 30 days 1,795,450 704,203
31 to 60 days 209,835 296,081
61 to 90 days 243,594 105,751
Over 90 days 7,985 21,568 

2,256,864 1,127,603 

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms of 30 to 150 days.
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21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Receipt in advance – 8,157
Contract liabilities (a) 62,548 –
Salaries and welfare payables 82,402 42,840
Tax payables other than current income tax liabilities 23,804 26,897
Interest payable 14,820 11,923
Other payables (b) 187,444 115,195
Accruals 850 1,521 

371,868 206,533 

Notes:

(a) Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018 are as follows:

31 December 
2018

1 January 
2018

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term advances received from customers
Sale of goods 62,548 8,157 

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver LCD module products. The increase in contract liabilities in 
2018 was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received from customers in relation to the sale of LCD module 
products at the end of the year.

Contract liabilities as at 1 January 2018 of RMB8,157,000 was recognised as revenue during the year ended 31 December 
2018.

(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.
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22. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

2018 2017
Effective 
interest 
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000

Effective 
interest 

rate (%) Maturity RMB’000

Current
Bank loans – secured 3.40-3.60 2019 220,682 4.40-5.00 2018 157,734
Collateralised bank advances – unsecured 3.70-5.44 2019 105,001 – – –
Collateralised bank advances – secured 4.20 2019 35,000 2.26-4.35 2018 231,876   

360,683 389,610   

Non-current
Other borrowings 0.44 2020 24,000 0.44 2020 24,000   

384,683 413,610   

Analysed into:
Bank loans repayable

Within one year 360,683 389,610

Other borrowings repayable
In the second year 24,000 24,000   

384,683 413,610   

Notes:

(a) The Group had banking facilities of RMB3,495,224,000 (2017: RMB2,647,300,000), of which RMB546,921,000 (2017: 
RMB1,074,784,000) has been utilised as at the end of the year.

(b) The Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings were secured by trade receivables of RMB48,040,000 (2017: RMB279,273,000) 
as at 31 December 2018.

In addition, the Company’s ultimate holding company has guaranteed certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings of 
up to RMB360,683,000 (2017: RMB389,610,000) as at the end of the year.

(c) The other borrowings are with a tenure of 3 years starting from 2017. Interest is chargeable at 0.44% per annum and payable 
annually in arrears.

(d) Except for the 3.80% secured bank loan of RMB38,265,000 (2017: RMB71,876,000), which is denominated in US$, all 
borrowings are in RMB.
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23. BONDS PAYABLE

Amount mainly represented bonds hold by the immediate holding company of the Company which is unsecured, interest 
bearing at 7.5%, per annum and repayable in 2020.

24. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Impairments

Depreciation 
in excess of 

related 
depreciation 

allowance Accruals
Government 

grants

Fair Value 
adjustments 

from financial 
instruments Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2017 2,897 8,435 1,127 5,105 – 17,564
Credited/(charged) to the statement of  

profit or loss during the year (note 10) 2,013 306 (735) (4,003) 188 (2,231)

At 31 December 2017 4,910 8,741 392 1,102 188 15,333
Effect of adoption of HKFRS9 511 – – – – 511

At 1 January 2018 (restated) 5,421 8,741 392 1,102 188 15,844
Credited/(charged) to the statement of  

profit or loss during the year (note 10) 1,404 (949) (178) 1,612 (188) 1,701      

At 31 December 2018 6,825 7,792 214 2,714 – 17,545      

Deferred tax liabilities

Fair value 
adjustments 
on financial 
investments

RMB’000

At 1 January 2018 181
Charged to the statement of profit or loss during the year (note 10) (181) 

At 31 December 2018 – 

At 31 December 2018, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted 
earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that the 
subsidiary will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated 
with the investment in the subsidiary in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled 
approximately RMB11,180,000 as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: RMB8,056,000).
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25. SHARE CAPITAL

2018 2017

Authorised:
4,000,000,000 (31 December 2017: 4,000,000,000) ordinary shares  

of HK$0.10 each (HK$’000) 400,000 400,000 

Issued and fully paid:
2,086,718,219 (31 December 2017: 2,083,850,619) ordinary shares 

(HK$’000) 208,672 208,385 

Equivalent to RMB’000 169,768 169,536 

Number of
shares

in issue
Share

capital

Share
premium
account

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2018 2,083,850,619 169,536 55,936
Vesting shares under the Share Award Scheme (Note (a)) – – (80)
Share options exercised (Note (b)) 2,867,600 232 2,144   

At 31 December 2018 2,086,718,219 169,768 58,000   

Number of
shares

in issue
Share

capital

Share
premium
account

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2017 2,031,368,800 165,065 236,758
Issue of new shares under Share Award Scheme (Note (c)) 44,813,829 3,818 –
Vesting shares under the Share Award Scheme (Note (a)) – – 50,874
Share options exercised (Note (b)) 7,667,990 653 5,936
Transfer of share premium (Note 28) – – (237,632)

At 31 December 2017 2,083,850,619 169,536 55,936   
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a) An amount of RMB5,972,000 (2017: RMB50,874,000) was credited to the share premium account from the awarded share 
reserve and an amount of RMB6,052,000 (2017: Nil) was debited to share premium from shares held for Share Award Scheme 
during the period upon the vesting of shares under Share Award Scheme.

(b) The subscription rights attaching to 2,867,600 (2017: 7,667,990) share options were exercised at the subscription price of 
HK$0.74 per share (note 27) , resulting in the issue of 2,867,600 (2017: 7,667,990) shares for a total cash consideration, 
before expenses, of RMB1,718,000 (2017: RMB4,829,000). An amount of RMB658,000 (2017: RMB1,760,000) was 
transferred from the share option reserve to share premium account upon the exercise of the share options.

(c) Under the Share Award Scheme, 44,813,829 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each were issued at par value.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the scheme are included in note 27 to 
the financial statements.

26. SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 17 March 2016 (the “Adoption Date”), the Board (for the purposes of the Share Award Scheme, defined below, also 
including such committee or such sub-committee or person(s) delegated with the power and authority by the board of 
directors of the Company to administer) resolved to adopt a restricted share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) 
for the purpose of providing incentives to the participants under the Share Award Scheme. Pursuant to the terms of the 
Share Award Scheme, the Board may, from time to time, at its sole and absolute discretion, designate an award (“Award” 
and collectively “Awards”) to be made to a selected participant (“Selected Person” and collectively “Selected Persons”). 
Participants of the Share Award Scheme cover any employee, adviser, consultant, agent, contractor, client or supplier of any 
member of the Group and any employee or officer of any affiliated company whom the Board in its sole discretion considers 
may contribute or have contributed to the Group. Awards may be satisfied by (i) existing shares to be acquired by the trustee 
engaged by the Company for the purpose of administrating the Share Award Scheme (the “Trustee”) from the market, or 
(ii) new shares to be allotted and issued to the Trustee by the Company (collectively “Awarded Shares”), in both case the 
costs of which will be borne by the Company, and will be held on trust by the Trustee for the Selected Persons until the 
end of each vesting period, subject to fulfilment of the vesting conditions (if any). The specific mandate for the issuance 
and allotment of new shares as Awarded Shares pursuant to the Share Award Scheme was approved by the shareholders 
of the Company at the special general meeting of the Company held on 11 May 2016 (the “Approval Date”). On 9 August 
2017, the Share Award Scheme was amended by the Group, pursuant to which, the Board may accelerate the vesting of the 
unvested Awarded Shares for grantees on a date prior to the original vesting date and waive or alter any or all of the vesting 
conditions attached to such Awarded Shares.

Subject to the refreshment of the scheme limit and the adjustment in the event of consolidation or subdivision of shares, 
the Board shall not make any further award of Awarded Shares which will result in: (i) the aggregate number of the Awarded 
Shares granted under the Share Award Scheme exceeding 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the 
Adoption Date (i.e. 172,149,980 shares); and (ii) the aggregate number of the Shares held by public shareholders of the 
Company falling below the minimum percentage as prescribed under the Listing Rules. Unless otherwise approved by the 
shareholders of the Company, the aggregate number of new shares to be granted as Awarded Shares in each financial year 
shall not exceed 3% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as at the Approval Date (i.e. 51,644,994 shares) 
or the latest new approval date (i.e. latest date on which the relevant shareholders’ approval is obtained), as the case may be.

On 20 May 2016, the Company entered into a trust deed with BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited thereby appointing it as the 
Trustee.
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26. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

On 17 March 2016, the Board resolved to condit ionally grant Awards with new shares to cer tain grantees 
(the “Shares Grant A”) pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme. This involves granting Awards for a total of 
51,644,994 Awarded Shares being new shares to 97 Selected Persons. The Shares Grant A was subject to (i) the approval of 
the specific mandate for the issuance and allotment of new shares as Awarded Shares pursuant to the Share Award Scheme 
by the shareholders; and (ii) the approval by the listing committee of the Stock Exchange for the listing of, and permission to 
deal in, such new shares. The conditions were all fulfilled on 11 May 2016.

On 9 August 2017, the Board resolved to condit ional ly g rant Awards with new shares to cer tain grantees 
(the “Shares Grant B”) pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme. This involves conditionally granting Awards for a 
total of 44,813,829 Awarded Shares being new shares and 6,831,165 Awarded Shares being existing shares from the market 
to 145 Selected Persons, who are all employees, and 2 Selected Persons, who are all non-employees, respectively. Out of 
the 145 Selected Persons of the Shares Grant B, 4 are connected persons of the Company (the “Connected Grantees”) who 
are conditionally granted a total of 15,364,499 Awarded Shares being new Shares. The proposed Awards to such Connected 
Grantees constitute connected transactions and are therefore also subject to the approval by the independent shareholders, 
which has been obtained on 13 October 2017.

The following Awarded Shares were unvested under the Share Award Scheme of the Company as at 1 January 2018:

Number of awarded shares
2018 2017
’000 ’000

At 1 January 6,831 25,823
Granted during the year – 51,645
Vested during the year (6,831) (70,293)
Forfeited during the year – (344) 

At 31 December – 6,831 

The number of shares and vesting date of the Awarded Shares under the Share Award Scheme as at the end of 2018 are as 
follows:

Number of Awarded Shares 

Date of grant

As at 
1 January 

2018

Granted 
during 

the year

Vested 
during 

the year

Forfeited 
during 

the year

As at 
31 December 

2018
Fair value 

HK$ per share
Vesting 

date
’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

9-8-17 6,831 – (6,831) – – 1.02 12-01-18

Total 6,831 – (6,831) – –

The fair value of the Awarded Shares granted in 2017 was RMB45,332,000, of which the Group recognised an awarded 
share expense of RMB542,000 during the year (2017: RMB55,328,000).

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018
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26. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

The following Awarded Shares were outstanding during the year:

Number of awarded shares
2018 2017

Note ’000 ’000

At 1 January
Number of Awarded Shares held by the Trustee 20,856 25,823
Number of Awarded Shares granted but not vested 6,831 25,823
Maximum number of Awarded Shares available for grant* 84,548 120,505 

At 31 December
Number of Awarded Shares held by the Trustee 15,689 20,856
Number of Awarded Shares granted but not vested – 6,831
Maximum number of Awarded Shares available for grant* 84,548 84,548 

Granting during the year
Grant using existing shares – 6,831
Grant using new shares – 44,814

Forfeited during the year – 344
Vested during the year 6,831 70,293 

Purchased during the year (a) 1,664 5,168
Allotted and issued during the year – 44,814
Individual income tax paid on behalf of  

the Selected Persons during the year – 15,344 

Notes:

(a) For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Trustee purchased 1,664,000 (2017: 5,168,000) shares at a total cost (including 
related transaction costs) of RMB1,518,000 (2017: RMB4,534,000) from the market out of cash contributed by the Group. 
Such shares will be held on trust by the Trustee for the Selected Persons until the end of the vesting period, subject to fulfilment 
of the vesting conditions.

* As mentioned above, the Board shall not make any further award of Awarded Shares which will result in the aggregate number 
of the Awarded Shares granted under the Award Scheme (excluding those cancelled or forfeited) exceeding 10% of the number 
of issued shares of the Company as at the Adoption Date (i.e. 17 March 2016).
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of recognising and providing 
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations, helping the Group 
in retaining its existing employees, recruiting additional employees and providing them with a direct economic interest in 
attaining the long term business objectives of the Group. Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include employees 
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including any executive and non-executive director or proposed executive and non-
executive director of the Company), adviser, consultant, agent, contractor, client or supplier of any member of the Group or 
any other person whom the Board in its sole discretion considers may contribute or have contributed to the Group. The Share 
Option Scheme became effective on 25 June 2015 and, unless otherwise terminated, will remain in force for 10 years from 
that date.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under 
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the 
Company in issue on the date of approval of each of the Share Option Scheme. The 10% limit may be refreshed with the 
approval by ordinary resolution of the shareholders. The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be issued 
upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other 
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time. The maximum 
number of shares issued or to be issued upon exercise of share options granted to any one participant in a 12-month period 
shall not exceed 1% (or 0.1% for any substantive shareholder, independent non-executive director or other associates, see 
the paragraph below) of the issued shares of the Company.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates 
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share options granted to a 
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s 
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in 
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted upon payment of a non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 
by each grantee. The Share Option Scheme does not specify any minimum holding period but the Board has the authority to 
determine the minimum period for which a share option in respect of some or all of the shares forming the subject of the 
share options must be held before it can be exercised. The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by 
the directors, and commences on a specified date and ends on a date which is not later than ten years from the date of grant 
of the relevant share option.

The exercise price of a share option to subscribe for shares of the Company is determinable by the directors, but may not 
be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the 
average closing price of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the 
date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to receive dividends or to vote at general meetings of the Company.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the Share Option Scheme of the Company during the year:

2018 2017
Weighted average

exercise price Number of 
options

Weighted average
exercise price Number of 

options
HK$ per share ’000 HK$ per share ‘000

At 1 January 0.74 69,678 0.74 79,319
Exercise during the year 0.74 (2,868) 0.74 (7,668)
Cancelled during the year 0.74 – 0.74 (1,100)
Forfeited during the year 0.74 (1,630) 0.74 (873)  

At 31 December 0.74 65,180 0.74 69,678  

The exercise price and exercise period of the share options outstanding at the end of 2018 are as follows:

31 December 2018

Date of grant Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
’000 HK$ per share

18-3-16 65,180 0.74 18-12-16 to 17-3-22

The fair value of the share options granted during 2016 was RMB18,502,000 (HK$0.28 each), of which the Group 
recognised a share option expense of RMB950,000 during the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB4,165,000).

At the end of the year, the Company had 65,180,430 share options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme which have 
not yet been exercised. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of 
the Company, result in the issue of 65,180,430 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of 
HK$6,518,000 and share premium of HK$41,715,000 (before issue expenses).

According to the scheme limit of the Share Option Scheme as refreshed at the annual general meeting held on 11 May 2016, 
the Company may further grant 172,149,980 share options, representing approximately 8.25% of the issued share capital of 
the Company as at 31 December 2018.

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the Company had 60,152,730 share options outstanding 
under the Share Option Scheme, which represented approximately 2.88% of the Company’ shares in issue as at that date.
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28. RESERVES

The amount of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein during the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are 
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 62 of the financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve with the amount of RMB77,970,000 arose from the Reverse Takeover Transaction, the adjustment of 
CDOT Huizhou’s legal capital to reflect the Company’s legal capital, and the capital reserve with the amount of RMB290,000 
arose from the contribution from a non-controlling shareholder.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the subsidiaries registered in the PRC are required to allocate 10% of its profit 
after tax to the statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital. Subject to certain 
restrictions set out in the PRC Company Law, part of the SSR may be converted to increase share capital of the subsidiaries 
registered in the PRC, provided that the remaining balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered 
capital.

Contributed surplus

Upon compliance with Section 4b(2) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the annual general meeting had passed the 
resolution to cancel the amount standing to the credit of the share premium amount of RMB237,632,000 and transfer to the 
contributed surplus account in 2017.

29. NON-WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests are set out below:

2018

Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:
Wuhan CDOT 30% 

Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling interests (RMB’000):
Wuhan CDOT 20,107 

Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting date (RMB’000):
Wuhan CDOT 135,235 
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29. NON-WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed are before 
any inter-company eliminations:

2018

RMB’000

Revenue 2,971,774
Total expenses (2,904,754)
Profit for the year 67,020
Total comprehensive income for the year 67,020 

Current assets 1,750,410
Non-current assets 351,745
Current liabilities 1,644,201
Non-current liabilities 7,169 

Net cash flows used in operating activities (131,686)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (76,129)
Net cash flows from financing activities 134,960
Effect of foreign exchange rate 470 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (72,385) 

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

2018

Bond 
payable

Interest-
bearing bank 

and other 
borrowings

Interest 
payables

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2018 58,506 413,610 11,923
Changes from financing cash flows – (28,926) (15,203)
Interest expense – – 18,100
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 2,835 – –   

At 31 December 2018 61,343 384,684 14,820   
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (Continued)

2017

Bond 
payable

Interest-
bearing bank 

and other 
borrowings

Interest 
payables

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2017 62,608 120,000 8,030
Changes from financing cash flows – 293,610 (27,428)
Interest expense – – 31,321
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (4,102) – –

At 31 December 2017 58,506 413,610 11,923   

31. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties and dormitories under operating lease arrangements. Leases for these 
properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to two years.

At the end of the reporting year, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
falling due as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 9,624 6,971
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 404 570 

10,028 7,541 

32. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 31 above, the Group had the following capital commitments 
as at the end of the year:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted, but not provided for:
Plant and machinery 80,179 119,473 
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(a) Transactions with related parties

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the following transactions 
with related parties during the year ended 31 December 2018:

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Ultimate holding company:
Purchases of products (i) – 1,334
Interest income – 16
Guarantee fee 75 760 

75 2,110 

Immediate holding company:
Interest expense (ii) 3,809 3,893 

Fellow subsidiaries:
Sales of products (i) 2,580,597 533,206
Sales of raw materials and samples (i) 59,718 1,797
Purchases of products (i) 1,604,281 366,420
Purchases of plant, vehicles, furniture and fixtures (i) 691 266
Purchases of services (i) 3,888 –
Rental and other related charges (i) 222 6,346
Interest income (i) 4,339 4,028
Interest expense (i) 2,374 7,338 

4,256,110 919,401 
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Continued)

(a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The sales, purchases, leasehold transactions, interest income, guarantee fee, interest expense and financing service 
fee with the related parties were made according to prices mutually agreed between two parties after arm’s length 
negotiation on normal commercial terms or on terms not less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as 
appropriate) independent third parties.

(ii) Interest is chargeable at 7.5% for bond issued to the immediate holding company as a result of the debt restructuring.

(b) Other transactions with related parties

The Company’s ultimate holding company has guaranteed certain bank loans made to the Group of up to 
RMB360,683,000 (2017: RMB389,610,000) as at the end of the year, as further detailed in note 22 to the financial 
statements.

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties

Due from related companies Due to related companies
2018 2017 2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Current:
The ultimate holding company – – 59 56
The immediate holding company – – 47,028 41,094
Fellow subsidiaries 761,473 58,040 258,154 183,747  

761,473 58,040 305,241 224,897
Non-current:
The immediate holding company – – 61,341 58,506  

761,473 58,040 366,582 283,403  

The balances with the ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries are mainly trading balances which are 
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The non-current balance with the immediate holding company as 
at 31 December 2018 was the bonds payable of RMB61,341,000. The current balance with the immediate holding 
company as at 31 December 2018 comprised interest of the bonds payable of RMB13,867,000 and an amount of 
RMB33,161,000 relating to the reimbursement for the listing expense which was paid by the immediate holding 
company on behalf of the Company. The current balance with the immediate holding company is unsecured, interest-
free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Continued)

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term employee benefits 3,423 2,604
Equity-settled share option expense 543 1,863
Equity-settled share award expense – 20,003 

3,966 24,470 

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements.

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the year are as follows:

31 December 2018
Financial assets 

at amortised cost
RMB’000

Financial assets
Trade and bills receivables 2,145,233
Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables 110,380
Cash and cash equivalents 277,437 

2,533,050 

Financial assets 
at fair value 

through 
profit or loss Loans and 

receivables31 December 2017 Held for trading
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets
Trade and bills receivables – 1,114,507
Financial assets included in prepayments and other receivables – 88,199
Cash and cash equivalents – 507,622
Derivative financial instruments 726 –

726 1,710,328  
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued)

31 December 2018

Financial
liabilities at 

amortised cost
RMB’000

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 2,256,864
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 202,264
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 360,683
Other borrowings 24,000
Bonds payable 61,341 

2,905,152 

Financial liabilities 
at fair value 

through 
profit or loss

Financial
liabilities at 

amortised cost31 December 2017 Held for trading
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial liabilities
Trade payables – 1,127,603
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals – 127,118
Interest-bearing bank borrowings – 389,610
Other borrowings – 24,000
Bonds payable – 58,506
Derivative financial instruments 752 –

752 1,726,837  
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35. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonable 
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
2018 2017 2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments – 726 – 726  

Carrying amounts Fair values
2018 2017 2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial liabilities
Other borrowings 24,000 24,000 24,194 24,088
Bonds payable 61,341 58,506 73,722 65,917
Derivative financial instruments – 752 – 752  

85,341 83,258 92,916 90,757  

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables, trade payables, 
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, and 
interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these 
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager is responsible for determining the policies and procedures 
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the finance director and 
the audit committee. At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements in the value of financial 
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the finance 
director. The valuation process and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual 
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged 
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and 
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The Group enters into forward currency contracts with various counterparties. Derivative financial instruments, are measured 
using valuation techniques similar to forward pricing and swap models, using present value calculations. The models 
incorporate various market observable inputs, including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward 
rates and interest rate curves. The carrying amounts of forward currency contracts are the same as their fair values.

The fair values of the bonds payable and other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash 
flows using rates applicable for the instruments. The Group’s own non-performance risk for the bonds payable and other 
borrowings as at 31 December 2018 was assessed to be insignificant.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, bonds payable and cash and 
cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group 
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise directly 
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
The board of directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units in 
currencies other than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 20% (2017: 36%) of the Group’s sales were 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the operating units making the sale, whilst approximately 
12% (2017: 52%) of costs were denominated in the units’ functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of each year to a reasonably possible change in the US$ exchange 
rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s equity.

Increase/
(decrease)
in US$ rate

Increase/
(decrease) 

in profit 
before tax

% RMB’000

31 December 2018
If RMB weakens against US$ 5 (1,730)
If RMB strengthens against US$ (5) 1,730

31 December 2017
If RMB weakens against US$ 5 1,833
If RMB strengthens against US$ (5) (1,833)
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk

The Group’s production process requires a significant amount of LCD, IC circuits and other materials, and the Group’s success 
depends significantly on its ability to secure sufficient and constant supply of these principal raw materials for its production 
at acceptable price levels. LCD is the most significant raw material used in the Group’s production. The Group does not 
have long-term, fixed-cost supply contracts of raw materials with its suppliers. Since many of the Group’s sales are priced by 
reference to the market price at the time of a particular order, its exposure to the risk of changes in the price is reduced.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish 
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which mainly comprise cash and cash equivalents, financial assets 
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure 
equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. 
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by industry sector. The 
Group had concentrations of credit risk as 80% (31 December 2017: 68%) of the Group’s trade and bills receivables were 
due from the Group’s five largest customers as at 31 December 2018.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 
16 to the financial statements.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 December 2018

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which 
is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end 
staging classification as at 31 December 2018. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

12-month 
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified 
approach

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables* – – – 1,819,415 1,819,415
Bills receivables  

– Not yet past due 337,752 – – – 337,752
Financial assets included in prepayments 

and other receivables
– Normal** 110,380 – – – 110,380

Cash and cash equivalents
– Not yet past due 277,437 – – – 277,437

387,817 – – 1,819,415 2,544,984     

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on the provision 
matrix is disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are 
not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents and have available funding through capital contribution 
and financial support from related parties and bank borrowings.

The maturity profile of financial liabilities as at 31 December 2018, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, was as 
follows:

Less than 
1 year 1 to 5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2018

Trade payables 2,256,864 – 2,256,864
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 206,207 1,906 208,113
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 360,683 – 360,683
Other borrowings – 24,000 24,000
Bonds payable 8,763 52,578 61,341   

2,832,517 78,484 2,911,001   

31 December 2017

Trade payables 1,127,603 – 1,127,603
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 130,879 5,579 136,458
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 394,169 – 394,169
Other borrowings – 24,000 24,000
Bonds payable 8,358 50,148 58,506
Derivative financial instruments 752 – 752   

1,661,761 79,727 1,741,488   

Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors do not believe that it is probable that the bank will exercise its 
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 
will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the 
years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as 
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals and 
bonds payable less cash and cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to owners of the parent. The Group’s 
policy is to keep the gearing ratio at a reasonable level. The gearing ratios at the end of the years are as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 2,256,864 1,127,603
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 201,820 127,118
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 360,683 389,610
Other borrowings 24,000 24,000
Bonds payable 61,341 58,506
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 277,437 507,622 

Net debt 2,627,271 1,219,215 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 545,101 498,302 

Capital and net debt 3,172,372 1,717,517 

Gearing ratio 83% 71%
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37. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in their entity

As part of its normal business, the Group entered into trade receivable factoring arrangements and transferred certain 
trade receivables to banks for cash. In the opinion of the directors, the Group retained substantially all risks and 
rewards of the transferred trade receivables, and accordingly, it continued to recognise the full carrying amounts of the 
transferred trade receivables and the associated liabilities which were the collateralised bank advances. Subsequent to 
the transfer, the Group did not retain any rights on the use of the trade receivables, including the sale, transfer or pledge 
of the trade receivables to any other third parties.

As at 31 December 2018, the amounts of pledged trade receivables and the collateralised bank advances were 
RMB48,040,000 (2017: RMB279,273,000) and RMB35,000,000 (2017: RMB231,876,000) (note 22) , respectively.

At 31 December 2018, the Group discounted certain bills receivables to bank in exchange for cash (the “Discounted 
Bills”) with a carrying amounts of RMB220,681,000 (2017: RMB1,426,342,000). In the opinion of the directors, the 
Group has retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include default risks relating to such Discounted Bills, and 
accordingly, it continued to recognise the full carrying amounts of the Discounted Bills and the associated interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

(b) Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entity

The Group had endorsed certain bill receivables accepted by banks amounted to RMB54,239,000 to certain of its 
suppliers (the “Derecognised Bills”). The Derecognised Bills had a maturity of one to six months at the end of the 
reporting period. In accordance with the law of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills 
have a right of resource against the Group if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing involvement”). In the opinion of 
the directors, the Group had transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, 
it had derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills and associate trade payables. The maximum 
exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to 
repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In opinion of the directors, the fair value of the 
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of 
the Derecognised Bills. No gain or losses were recognised from the Continuing involvement, both during the year or 
cumulatively.
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the year is as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries 264,900 255,922 

Total non-current assets 264,900 255,922 

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 563 1,809
Prepayment and other receivables 122,827 118,062 

Total current assets 123,390 119,871 

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 84,750 46,229
Interest payable 13,867 9,465 

Total current liabilities 98,617 55,694 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 24,773 64,177 

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 289,673 320,099 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bonds payable 61,341 58,506 

Total non-current liabilities 61,341 58,506 

Net assets 228,332 261,593 

EQUITY
Share capital 169,768 169,536
Reserves 58,564 92,057 

228,332 261,593 
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share 
premium 
account

Contributed 
surplus

Share 
option

reserve

Awarded 
share

reserve

Shares held 
for Share 

Award
Scheme

Accumulated 
losses

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve Total equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2017 236,758 – 12,604 4,879 – (175,399) 16,858 95,700
Loss for the year – – – – – (10,387) – (10,387)
Exchange differences on translation of  

financial statements – – – – – – (13,298) (13,298)

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year – – – – – (10,387) (13,298) (23,685)
Repurchase shares under Share Award Scheme – – – – (4,534) – – (4,534)
Issue of new shares under Share Award Scheme – – – (3,818) – – – (3,818)
Share Award Scheme arrangements – – – 55,328 – – – 55,328
Vesting shares under the Share Award Scheme 50,874 – – (50,874) – – – –
Equity-settled share option arrangements – – 4,165 – – – – 4,165
Share options exercised 5,936 – (1,760) – – – – 4,176
Transfer of share premium (237,632) 237,632 – – – – – –
2016 final dividends declared – (35,275) – – – – – (35,275)

At 31 December 2017 55,936 202,357 15,009 5,515 (4,534) (185,786) 3,560 92,057

Share 
premium 
account

Contributed 
surplus

Share 
option

reserve

Awarded 
share

reserve

Shares held 
for Share 

Award
Scheme

Accumulated 
losses

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve Total equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2018 55,936 202,357 15,009 5,515 (4,534) (185,786) 3,560 92,057
Loss for the year – – – – – (7,102) – (7,102)
Exchange differences on translation of  

financial statements – – – – – – 6,680 6,680

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year – – – – – (7,102) 6,680 (422)
Repurchase shares under Share Award Scheme – – – – (1,518) – – (1,518)
Share Award Scheme arrangements – – – 457 – – – 457
Vesting shares under the Share Award Scheme (80) – – (5,972) 6,052 – – –
Equity-settled share option arrangements – – 950 – – – – 950
Share options exercised 2,144 – (658) – – – – 1,486
2017 final dividends declared – (34,446) – – – – – (34,446)             

At 31 December 2018 58,000 167,911 15,301 – – (192,888) 10,240 58,564
             

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the cancellation of the amount standing to the credit of the share premium and 
transferred to the contributed surplus account with effect from the resolution approved at the annual general meeting held on 22 
June 2017. Pursuant to Bermuda company law, a company may make distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus in 
certain circumstances.

The share option reserve and awarded share reserve comprise the fair value of share options and awarded shares granted which are 
yet to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. 
The amount will be transferred to the share premium account when the related awarded shares and share options are vested and 
exercised.

39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 19 March 2019.
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A summary of the audited results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years ended 31 December 2018 is set out as 
below:

Year ended 31 December
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

RESULTS

Revenue 5,280,861 3,464,573 3,678,153 2,242,822 2,614,228 

Cost of sales (5,032,604) (3,184,754) (3,472,630) (2,103,219) (2,375,713)
Gross profit 248,257 279,819 205,523 139,603 238,515 

Other income and gains 44,515 49,340 51,971 31,348 32,911
Selling and distribution expenses (27,226) (42,147) (36,267) (32,668) (42,589)
Administrative expenses (97,152) (115,194) (73,907) (51,525) (53,822)
Listing expense – – – (142,151) –
Other expenses (12,325) (8,934) (4,596) (302) (474)
Finance costs (18,100) (31,321) (20,239) (7,851) (7,783) 

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 137,969 131,563 122,485 (63,546) 166,758
Tax (36,081) (20,435) (31,375) (5,990) (42,088) 

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 101,888 111,128 91,110 (69,536) 124,670 

Attributable to
Owners of the parent 81,782 115,734 91,110 (69,536) 124,670
Non-controlling interests 20,106 (4,606) – – – 

101,888 111,128 91,110 (69,536) 124,670  

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

TOTAL ASSETS 3,813,006 2,459,686 2,120,962 1,334,090 1,224,056
TOTAL LIABILITIES (3,132,670) (1,846,280) (1,752,834) (1,229,151) (1,030,168)
Non-controlling interest (135,235) (115,104) – – – 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 545,101 498,302 368,128 104,939 193,888  

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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